
Date Published: 16 November 2020     

Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 17 November 2020 at 10.00 am

This meeting will be held as a remote access meeting via 
Webex

AGENDA

1  Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence

Chair

2  Declarations of Interest 

To advise of any pecuniary or personal declarations of interest on matters 
relating to the agenda

Chair

3  Minutes 

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 22 October 2020

Chair

4  Public Representation 

The Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is currently 
piloting an approach whereby members of the public can make 
representations at committee
meetings.

At each meeting of the Health Scrutiny Committee, there shall be up to 20 
minutes set aside for representations, (3 minutes allocated per member of 
the public).

Any person who lives or works in the county, or is affected by the work of 
the County Council, may make a representation on any matter which relates 
to any item on the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda for that 
meeting.

Notification of your intention to attend the meeting and make a 
representation should be given by 4.00 pm three clear working days before 
the date of the meeting, (excluding the day of the meeting).

The notification deadline to make representation at the committee meeting 

Chair



    

on Tuesday 17 November 2020 is 4.00 pm on Wednesday 11 November 
2020. 

To confirm your request to make a representation, please email Jo Moore 
on jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Please note, this meeting will be held as a remote access meeting, for 
which it will be necessary to join the meeting by electronic means via the 
Webex application. An invitation to join the meeting will be provided prior to 
the meeting. If you have any questions on this process, please include in 
the email.

PRESENTATION ITEMS

5  Community Phlebotomy Services (Pages 1 - 4)

An update on changes to community phlebotomy services, including recent 
revisions to the arrangements in the Cirencester area.

Mary Hutton

6  Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Performance Report 
(Pages 5 - 30)

To consider an overview of performance by the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG) against NHS constitutional and other 
agreed standards. 

To include an update on ambulance response times during the COVID-19 
Pandemic. 

GCCG

STANDARD ITEMS

7  Director of Public Health Update 

An update from the Director of Public Health on recent developments in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic in Gloucestershire.

Sarah Scott 

8  One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) Lead Report (Pages 
31 - 42)

To receive an update from the One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System 
(ICS) Partnership. 

The NHS Partners of One Gloucestershire include: - 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
Primary Care (GP) Providers
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
South West Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust  

Mary Hutton 

9  GCCG Clinical Chair/Accountable Officer Report (Pages 43 - 62) Dr Andrew 
Seymour

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

To note the NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 
Clinical Chair and Accountable Officers’ Report. 

Mary Hutton 

10  Work Plan 

To note the committee work plan and suggest items for consideration at 
future meetings.

12 January 2021
2 March 2021
15 June 2021
13 July 2021
14 September 2021
16 November 2021 

Chair

Membership – Cllr Brian Robinson (Chair), Cllr Paul Hodgkinson (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Suzanne Williams

Co-opted Members - Cllr Martin Horwood, Cllr Dilys Neill, Cllr Helen Molyneux, Cllr Collette 
Finnegan, Cllr Steve Lydon and Cllr Jill Smith

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Council Chamber.  
Completing this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent 
members from declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list 
will be available for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Director of Policy, Performance and Governance, Rob Ayliffe 
É01452 328198 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start 
of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore Lead Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324196/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (please refer to 

the Council’s Constitution).

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday 22 October 2020 commencing at 10.00 am 

PRESENT

Cllr Brian Robinson 
(Chair)
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Robert Vines

Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Martin Horwood
Cllr Dilys Neill
Cllr Collette Finnegan
Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Jill Smith
Cllr Bernie Fisher

Officers NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)/ 
One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) 

Mary Hutton – Accountable Officer and ICS Lead
Dr Andy Seymour – Clinical Chair 
Ellen Rule – Director of Transformation and Service Redesign
Becky Parish – Associate Director Engagement and Experience

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Deborah Lee – Chief Executive 
Peter Lachecki – Chair 
Simon Lanceley- Director of Transformation
Prof Mark Pietroni
Rachael De Caux

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 
Paul Roberts – Chief Executive
Ingrid Barker – Chair
Angela Potter, Director of Strategy and Partnerships 

Gloucestershire County Council 
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Cllr Helen Molyneux, (Forest of Dean 
representative), and Cllr Paul Hodgkinson, (Gloucestershire County Council 
representative). Cllr Bernie Fisher substituted for Cllr Hodkinson at the meeting. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Apologies were also received from Cabinet Members, Cllr Tim Harman and Cllr 
Kathy Williams.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 September 2020 were agreed as an 
accurate record of that meeting.

4. PUBLIC REPRESENTATION 

Agenda item 6 - Forest of Dean Community Hospital Consultation

The following representation was made by Mr John Thurston on behalf of Friends of 
Lydney Hospital.  

Statement

Our question does not apply to the provision of inpatient beds but to the loss of 
other local services in the South Forest if Lydney Hospital is completely closed. 

In recent years Outpatients and Urgent care visits to Lydney are many times the 
number of inpatients visits and are the mostly highly valued aspects of the local 
provision.

In the very short time available, we have not been able to digest all of the papers, 
but we are pleased to see that there is an acknowledgement of the representations 
that have been on loss of services. We would welcome an opportunity to partake in 
a constructive working group, however presently, there is no commitment that 
funding will be made available to provide those services or that they are considered 
necessary. 

Knowing the current resource, buildings and people, we see no evidence that there 
is an ability to provide and fund such a provision despite the plans to close the 
existing hospital.  

We were encouraged to support the case for a single hospital with inpatient beds 
for the three towns on the understanding that comprehensive health provision 
would be made in the other two towns. 

Lydney and South Forest is the largest and fastest growing area of the Forest of 
Dean. Transport and travel are not good, and many people live outside or on the 30 
minutes travel time.  The passenger miles will substantially increase without a local 
health hub. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Our aspiration is to replace the lost services (and others) in a new innovative 21st 
Century facility. We are now an ever increasingly, 365/7/24 hour society, expecting 
immediate response and those in rural areas have an equal right to partake. Over 
many years we have had good provision and do not wish to be disadvantaged. 

The Friends of Lydney and District hospital are prepared to offer support to new 
services in Lydney.

Response from Ellen Rule: Director of Transformation and Service Redesign for 
the Gloucestershire NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) on behalf of the 
One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS).

Acknowledging the concerns, the Director of Transformation and Service Redesign 
clarified that the focus of the consultation would be on the services to be contained 
within the new single hospital to be built in the Forest of Dean.  As outlined in the 
meeting documentation, there had been significant previous engagement and 
consultation resulting in the decisions to consolidate the existing two hospitals into 
a single site, the location for that facility being Cinderford.

It was recognised that some of the feedback that had been received had suggested 
that residents from the South of the Forest would receive a lower level of provision 
to that which they currently received due to access and travel difficulties. Therefore, 
alongside the consultation, it was proposed that CCG convene a working group to 
consider how it might develop any additional services in the South of the Forest.  
Any proposals developed by the group would then need to be assessed in terms of 
deliverability, sustainability and impact to other service provision so that appropriate 
recommendations could be made to the CCG Prioritisation group and ICS Board for 
consideration.  

The CCG would be seeking people to nominate themselves to join the working 
group. Dependent on the levels of interest received, the nominations would be 
considered in terms of what would be the best way to take the working group 
forward. The aim was to convene the working group in early 2021 following the end 
of the consultation process. 

In addition to seeking representation from people living in the South of the Forest, a 
key aspiration was that the working group would be made up of health and social 
care professionals from across the locality and from the range of services for 
discussion. It was confirmed that a range of surveys would be used, including 
engagement via MS Teams and, where appropriate, face to face workshops to help 
understand and develop any proposals that might emerge and support the 
development of robust business cases for any new service provision. This may 
include both infrastructure and service considerations.  

It was confirmed that the CCG was involved in positive discussions with local 
general practice (GP) providers and remained committed to the development of a 
business case for a new health centre within the South of the Forest once a clear 
direction and solution had been reached across general practice.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Mr Thurston was thanked for his participation at the meeting and the response to 
his concerns noted.

5. FIT FOR THE FUTURE UPDATE 

Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign for the 
Gloucestershire NHS Clinical Commissioning Group, (representing One 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System), set out the proposals and outline plan for 
the ICS Consultation on the development of specialist hospital services at 
Cheltenham General (CGH) and Gloucestershire Royal (GRH) Hospitals. The 
consultation will form part of the Gloucestershire Fit for the Future Programme and 
the long term vision of ensuring Gloucestershire is placed at the forefront of 
healthcare delivery nationally. 

To date, the programme has focussed on two areas of work; 

1) Developing a joined up responsive approach to offering community based 
urgent care; and 

2) Developing the ‘Centre of Excellence’ model of care for delivering specialist 
care services.

The set of proposals for consideration at this meeting related to the development of 
Centres of Excellence for specialist hospital based care within hospitals operated 
by the Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. The focus of developing 
this model of care was to ensure patients with serious illnesses or injuries received 
specialist treatment with the appropriate specialist staff, skills and equipment from 
which to achieve the best possible outcomes and experiences.

5.1 Noting strong expressions of concern from some members of the committee 
about the timing of the consultation in relation to the challenges and pressures 
presented by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Director of Transformation and Service 
Redesign advised members that, to delay the consultation was not an option and 
could seriously hinder the process. The committee noted the significant benefits 
anticipated from the changes and the importance of consulting at this time. The 
consultation follows an extensive period of public and staff engagement.

5.2 Members were advised that the Gloucestershire Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU), (produced to assist the committee when making a 
recommendation to the CCG to consult), would not be required in relation to the two 
consultations for consideration at this meeting. The consultations formed part of a 
long running programme, each with a clear consultation timetable in place. 

5.3 For clarification, it was explained that the purpose of the presentation at this 
meeting was to seek the committees views on the decision to go out to public 
consultation on proposals relating to the reorganisation of specialist services at 
Cheltenham General (CGH) and Gloucestershire Royal (GRH) Hospitals. The 
services included:- 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

 Acute Medicine (specifically acute medical take)
 Gastroenterology inpatient services - medical care services for stomach, 

pancreas, bowel and liver problems 
 General Surgery - conditions relating to the gut. Specifically, emergency 

general surgery, planned lower gastrointestinal (colorectal) surgery and 
planned day case surgery  

 Image Guided Interventional Surgery (IGIS) – including vascular surgery. 
This area of work involves the use of instruments with live images to guide 
the surgery

 Trauma and Orthopaedic inpatient services (T&O) - diagnosis and treatment 
of conditions relating to the bones and joints

5.4 The committee noted the steps that had been taken to proceed to the 
consultation, including the mitigations considered in response to concerns raised at 
previous meetings on the intention to consult during a pandemic.

5.5 Setting the context and background for the proposals, it was explained that the 
consultation reflected the vision of developing a single hospital facility located over 
two sites. In line with ICS priorities, it was proposed that the majority of services 
would be delivered locally, (closer to home), to avoid less people having to travel 
out of the county for treatment and specialist care. To centralise the county’s 
specialist services would allow the best use of the scare resources. Following the 
merger into a single Trust in 2002, a number of services had centralised to one of 
the two main hospital sites; these included paediatrics, gynaecology and trauma to 
GRH and ophthalmology, oncology and urology to CGH.

5.6 Although many adult medical and surgical specialities continued to be delivered 
at both sites, it was apparent that this was creating increased workforce pressures 
and compromising the standards of delivering quality specialist care in 
Gloucestershire. In some cases, this involved people having to travel to hospitals 
into other counties to access specialist services, primarily Bristol, Birmingham and 
Oxford. 

5.7 To maximise the opportunities presented by the proposed two site 
configuration, it was proposed that the Trust develop one of the sites to focus on 
planned care and the other to focus on emergency care. A full separation of 
planned and emergency care was not envisaged. The proposal was to retain a 24/7 
emergency care department at GRH; a 24/7 emergency department at CGH, (with 
a nurse led unit overnight); and 24/7 intensive treatment units (ITU) at both sites.  

5.8 Detailing some of the processes involved in the development of the 
solutions/options appraisal business case for the proposals, including the use of 
appraisal workshops, input from a range of external review groups, and assurance 
meetings held in August, September and October, the Director of Transformation 
and Service Redesign confirmed that the longlist of options identified at the outset 
had now been consolidated into a short list of options proposed for public 
consultation. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

5.9 Having been assurance tested against four key tests plus financial and best 
practice requirements, the appraisal process had undergone a number of change 
proposals before selecting the preferred options. These included: -  

Fixed proposals common to all models: 

i. Formalise the reconfiguration of Trauma and Orthopaedics (currently a pilot) 
ii. Formalise the reconfiguration of Gastroenterology (currently a pilot)
iii. Retain the current configuration of planned Upper Gastrointestinal surgery 

(GI) (centralised at GRH)
iv. Centralise the acute medical take to GRH
v. Centralise Emergency General Surgery to GRH 
vi. Centralise General Surgery day cases to CGH
vii. Develop highly specialist equipment to provide 24/7 Image Guided 

Interventional Surgery (IGIS) hub and vascular surgery at GRH with IGIS 
spoke treatment at CGH 

viii.Establish an enhanced ‘deteriorating patient’ model delivered by an Acute 
Care Response and Intensive Treatment Unit teams for 24/7 care of patients 
in CGH 

Proposal with variable options: 

i. Centralise planned Colorectal services to CGH or Centralise Elective 
Colorectal services to GRH 

5.10 The combination of fixed and variable proposals created two separate 
configuration option models, (outlined in detail in the Consultation Brochure 
Document). Reinforcing the need for consultation, members were referred to the 
Communication and Consultation Strategy and Plan as set out in the Pre-
Consultation Business Case. 

5.11 Referring to the paper presented at the committee meeting in September 
regarding temporary service changes at CGH, it was acknowledged that there was 
some overlap between the emergency service changes that had been introduced to 
support the county’s incident and recovery responses to COVID-19 and that this 
may have created confusion in the perceptions to the public and stakeholders. 

5.12 For clarification, it was explained that Fit for the Future did not relate to the 
temporary changes made earlier in the year in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. It was noted that some of the medium to long term changes proposed at 
this meeting, as part of the Fit for the Future Programme, related to some of the 
services affected by temporary changes. 

5.13 Key points noted at the meeting included: i) The service changes implemented 
over the summer months were temporary, introduced to help manage the impact of 
COVID-19. ii) The Fit for the Future Programme remained the mechanism for 
agreeing permanent service change. iii) The programme was modelled on ‘normal’ 
demand rather than COVID-19 demand, and focussed on the medium to long term, 
not short-term response to the crisis; iv) There was some overlap between the 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

emergency service changes enacted as part of the pandemic response and the 
emerging proposals in the Fit for the Future Programme, but the proposals were not 
the same; v) As requested, a proposed approach to restoring services at CGH A&E 
department had been set and planned for March 2021. 

5.14 In response to a request made at the previous meeting, to produce an outline 
plan of the restoration requirements to restore emergency services to pre-COVID-
19 arrangements at CGH, (currently operating as a Minor Incident and Injury Unit 
from 8am to 8pm), it was confirmed that it would be necessary to meet the following 
criteria - 

Cheltenham A & E Gloucestershire Royal A & E
Consultant led – 8 am to 8pm Nurse led – 8pm to 8am 

CGH Only - Criteria 1: Availability of Point Care Testing 

 Enable emergency patients attending CGH to be treated safely in one of 3 
pathways: confirmed COVID-19, non COVID-19

 Maintain current very low levels nosocomial (in hospital) transmission 

CGH and GRH - Criteria 2:

Evidence that reversing the temporary service change would not reduce the scope 
or level of activity currently being developed in elective and cancer care 
(diagnostics and operations)

CGH and GRH - Criteria 3: Workforce Availability (both hospitals) 

Must be possible to continue to fill greater than 85% of CGH and GRH A&E rotas 
with substantial staff

CGH and GRH - Criteria 4: 

Any factor where reversing the temporary changes would expose patients and/or 
staff to an intolerable safety risk

5.15 Members questioned the role of the committee in relation to making service 
changes and going out to consultation. Referring to a legal document published for 
the NHS England and Improvement Primary Care and System Transformation 
Team in August 2020, members were informed that the new guide set out the 
relevant legal considerations for NHS bodies for use when in the process of 
changing services.

5.16 Legislative information provided in the committee report and reported at the 
meeting is appended as Appendix A. 

5.17 In reaching the decision to consult during a pandemic was discussed with 
National Health Service England and The Consultation Institute. Both bodies 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

assured the CCG that the consultation process, including the strategy and the plan 
for consultation were appropriate. Neither body indicated that a delay to 
commencing consultation was necessary. 

5.18 The Director of Transformation and Service Redesign reported a commitment 
to undertake a ‘socially distanced’ consultation and that investment had been made 
in new online participation methods to support this process. 

5.19 The following questions and concerns, (raised by the committee at the 
previous meeting), were noted: 

 Is this the best time to enter into the consultation? The focus surely should 
be on meeting COVID-19 and demand which currently isn't being met e.g. 
cancer care 

 Continuing with the consultation could risk confusing patients and members 
of the public, cutting across key messages and clarity on what needs to be 
done to fight COVID-19 

 Volunteers, councillors and other stakeholders may not be able to focus and 
give in depth feedback due to focussing on other issues 

 We really don't know what the 'new normal' will be: we don’t know how 
effective treatments for COVID-19 will be or how many vaccines will be 
available, how much they'll cost and how effective they will be and what 
demands that will put on any clinical setting. As a result, the proposals being 
consulted on may no longer be the right ones, resulting in them having to be 
reversed or amended in the future. 

5.20 In response to the concerns, the Director of Transformation and Service 
Redesign stated that, having considered the matter carefully, and whilst the 
programme had been paused during of the first wave of COVID-19, the risks of 
pausing the consultation at this stage now outweighed the risks of proceeding. A 
number of services were currently operating under temporary change agreements, 
a situation that had already created a degree of uncertainty for staff and the public. 

5.21 It was not anticipated that the decision to consult would place the service 
delivery team at risk. The staff who ran the consultation processes would not be 
directly engaged in service delivery. A small amount of clinical time would be used 
to support the process but this would be outside of patient contact hours for those 
staff involved.

5.22 It was accepted that some members of the public/stakeholders may be pre-
occupied with the current position and may find it hard to focus on the issues set 
out in the consultation. It was hoped this would be addressed by offering a wide 
and comprehensive range of consultation materials, including online and face to 
face engagement. 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

5.23 It was suggested that, if people chose not to talk about their COVID-19 
experiences during the engagement process, this would be added to the future 
planning and delivery of services process where COVID-10 was part of the new 
normal. 

5.24 Regarding the ‘future proofing’ of the proposals, ICS concluded by stating 
these were the right proposals for the development of Gloucestershire’s hospital 
services, regardless of whether COVID-19 levels were high or low. 

5.25 A detailed presentation of the proposals was provided at the meeting and can 
be viewed at the link here

5.26 Several members of the committee reiterated historic concerns and 
questioned the timing of the consultation during a pandemic. The concerns ranged 
from the risks involved in undertaking a consultation at this time; doubts about 
whether a fair hearing would be given; doubts on whether the consultation would 
reach the right people; concerns about the need for the One Gloucestershire ICS 
Partnership to concentrate on responding to the pandemic; and the need to pursue 
different methods of engagement. The question of why the media had announced 
the start of the consultation before being considered at the meeting was also 
questioned. 

5.27 Other members member pointed out that the pandemic could continue for an 
indefinite or prolonged period of time. To delay the consultation could incur 
significant, detrimental repercussions, including missed opportunities in securing 
significant amounts of available funding.

5.28  Clarifying the role of the committee in the decision to proceed to consultation 
at this time, it was explained that, whilst the views of the committee would be taken 
into consideration, this should not prevent nor delay the planned launch of the 
process. Although members views represented an important part in making the 
decision, the NHS ICS was not bound by them. 

5.29 At the end of the consultation, the committee could express its views on the 
legality of the process and if the consultation was considered lawful. If the 
committee had the evidence to support its views, any concerns about the legality of 
the consultation process could be referred to the Secretary of State. 

5.30 Reassuring members that work would continue to address the repercussions 
of the pandemic, it was confirmed that the consultation process would run alongside 
such work and would be monitored and reviewed throughout the process. A mid 
term review would be vital to the monitoring process, as would be the observations 
made by the Citizen’s Jury Panel. Regular update reports and feedback would be 
presented to the committee at future meetings.

5.31 Highlighting the barriers presented to some members of the public in having to 
use on-line consultation arrangements, the committee urged ICS to consider 
alternative means to engage with people without access to computers or not 

Page 9

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s65939/Item%205%20iii%20Fit%20for%20the%20Future%20-%20Consultation%202020%20-%20Final%20HOSC%20presentation%202.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

comfortable with digital technology. Members were re-assured every effort would be 
made to engage with the public face to face and via telephone appointments. 

5.32 Summarising some of the key points from the discussion, the Chair put it to the 
committee that the decision to consult had met with the required criteria to proceed 
to consultation. He accepted that, at this current time, there was a potentially higher 
level of risk to the engagement process than at previous times, but suggested that 
this should be balanced against the benefits and opportunities feedback from the 
consultation would provide in the aim of developing specialist services in 
Gloucestershire.

5.33 t was suggested that the role of the committee, at this stage in the 
consultation, was to assist in the monitoring and review of the proposals and to 
await until the end of the consultation before undertaking an evaluation of the 
overall performance and the methodology used. 

5.34 An update on the progress of the consultation would be provided as part of the 
Accountable Officer Report at the next meeting. 

5.35 What happens next?

 The consultation will run from 22 October to 17 December 2020
 All feedback will be included in an Output of Consultation Report
 A second Fit for Future Citizen’s Jury will be held in January 2021 to 

consider feedback from the consultation, record its observations and make 
recommendations to decision makers from the NHS bodies listed below.

 A consultation review period will follow, whereby the Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and the NHS Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) will consider the feedback at public meetings 
held throughout March 2021 (including the HOSC meeting on 2 March 2020)

 A final decision will be made at the CCG Governing Body meeting on 11 
March 2021 – this will be streamed live on the internet

 If the proposals are supported by the CCG Governing Body, the  emergency 
General Surgery; Gastroenterology and Trauma and  Orthopaedics inpatient 
service changes will be made permanent

 The timescale for the other changes will be determined by a number of 
factors such as estates, staff recruitment and training

 The Fit for the Future Programme structure will remain in place for 
programme and project managers to work alongside clinical staff from the 
specialist areas to develop detailed implementation plans

 Feedback from the consultation; the recommendations and the observations 
of the Citizen’s Jury and the final decision made by the CCG Governing 
Body will be published at www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay and at the 
online participation platform Get involved in Gloucestershire at 
https:///getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk 

Page 10

http://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay
https://getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

Appendix: Legal Considerations 

1. Legal duties regarding service change and consultation 

A new legal guide was prepared this year for NHS England and Improvement 
Primary Care and System Transformation Team and published in August 2020. 

The guide sets out 8 relevant legal considerations for NHS bodies in the process of 
changing services. Legislation is only one element in a complex picture that 
includes: - 

 Legislation – a law or a set of laws that have been passed by Parliament or 
on its behalf. For example, an Act of Parliament, or statutory instruments 
such as Regulations drafted using powers given to a Minister in an Act of 
Parliament. 

 Statutory guidance – Guidance issued using powers given to NHSEI by 
primary legislation. 

 Policy and guidance – Policy or guidance issued by a relevant body. 
 Public law – the type of law governing the conduct of public bodies including 

the NHS which is derived from cases (sometimes known as common law). 

The guide draws on these and other sources to introduce legal considerations for 
service change in context. The guide notes that it should be read alongside, and 
does not replace or supersede: 

 Planning, assuring and delivering service change for patients, (NHS 
England, 2018) 

 Effective Service Change – A support and guidance toolkit 

The guide includes a section entitled ‘deciding to consult the public’. 

Decisions on whether to hold a public consultation on proposals for service change 
as a means to discharge the duty to involve should take account of: - 

 The description of arrangements for patient and public involvement included 
in the CCGs’ constitution in response to its statutory duty75; 

 Patient and public involvement strategy or policy documents; and 
 Other established practices, undertakings and previous commitments made. 

NHSEI guidance notes that, where there is a duty for the commissioner to consult 
the local authority under the 2013 Health Scrutiny Regulations, it will almost 
invariably be the case that public consultation is also required. Irrespective of how a 
decision to hold a public consultation is arrived at, the common law duty of 
procedural fairness will inform the manner in which that consultation should be 
conducted. 

Each NHS organisation should satisfy itself that its public involvement duty and duty 
to consult affected local authorities has been met. In practice, a single, well-

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

resourced period of consultation can be sufficient to satisfy commissioners’ and 
providers’ respective duties.

Note that public consultation will normally end before local authority consultation. “It 
is sensible for health scrutiny to be able to receive details about the outcome of 
public consultation before it makes its response so that the response can be 
informed by patient and public opinion.” (s4.4.2, Local Authority Health Scrutiny: 
Guidance to support Local Authorities and their partners to deliver effective health 
scrutiny, DoH 2014) 

Guidance for Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees sets out the committee 
powers, which are to: 

 Summon officers of health trusts to committee meetings 
 Require information from NHS bodies on the planning and provision of health 

services 
 Be consulted by health trusts about significant changes to service provision. 

 
The circumstances for referral of a proposed substantial development or variation to 
the Secretary of State, occur when a health scrutiny body has been consulted by a 
relevant NHS body on a proposed substantial development or variation, but feel 
that: 

 It is not satisfied with the adequacy of content of the consultation. 
 It is not satisfied that sufficient time has been allowed for consultation 
 It considers that the proposal would not be in the interests of the health 

service in its area. 
 It has not been consulted, and it is not satisfied that the reasons given for not 

carrying out consultation are adequate. 

It should be noted that these scenarios all assume that the consultation in question 
has been completed, and that the committee is engaging in a retrospective review 
of the process.

6. FOREST OF DEAN COMMUNITY HOSPITAL 

The committee considered proposals from the Gloucestershire Integrated Health 
and Care System (ICS) to commence the final formal stage of public consultation 
on the range of services to be provided at the new community hospital for the 
Forest of Dean. Based on the outcomes of previous phases of engagement and 
consultation, the planned hospital will be built in Cinderford and will replace the 
Dilke Memorial and Lydney and District Community Hospitals. The two existing 
hospitals will close when the new hospital has opened.

6.1 The new proposals have been developed following extensive engagement with 
local communities and clinicians from the Forest of Dean consulted on over several 
years.  

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

6.2 During the last period of engagement, several issues were raised. These will be 
considered in the next phase of consultation and include: -  

a) Proposed inpatient capacity in the new hospital 
b) Urgent Care provision for the district, and in particular for residents of the 

South of the Forest (based on the confirmation that the new hospital will be 
located in Cinderford) 

c) End of Life Care provision 
d) Travel and Access 

6.3 The committee noted the proposals, including the responses to the specific 
areas of interest raised during previous consultations. In addition, the committee 
noted information on the other services to be provided at the new hospital plus an 
overview of historic activities and proposed timelines for the next stages of the 
programme. 

6.4 It was confirmed that all key assurances for the new proposals had been met 
and any challenges presented by the COVID-19 pandemic would be taken into 
account and managed during the consultation process. 

6.5 A summary of bed test requirements for the proposed 24 beds for the hospital 
was outlined in the covering report to the committee.  

6.6 One of the proposals related to the creation of an urgent care centre at the new 
facility. The new care centre would replace existing facilities at the Lydney and 
Dilke hospitals and operate from 8am to 8pm 7 days a week. 

6.7 In response to concerns about the provision of urgent care for residents living in 
the South of the Forest and anticipated difficulties to access the new hospital, it was 
confirmed that a working group would convene to explore the options for providing 
urgent care in Lydney. Comments made by Mr John Thurston on behalf of the 
Friends of Lydney Hospital considered earlier in the meeting were noted. 

6.8 It was acknowledged that travel and access remained a concern, particularly in 
terms of access to services from the far North and South of the District. It was 
further acknowledged that public transport provision in the Forest was, overall, 
generally poor. Discussions with the Forest of Dean District Council to seek to 
improve bus routes to the new hospital were ongoing.

6.9 Continuing with the issue of access arrangements to the new hospital, it was 
confirmed that travel and access had been a consistent theme in all stages of the 
engagement process, with detailed analysis of car ownership and public transport 
undertaken to consider the travel implications associated with the proposed change 
in service delivery. Members were reminded, however, that at this stage in the 
consultation, it was not the intention to consider the location of the new hospital – 
this decision had already been made and a site for the location had already been 
purchased for development in Cinderford. 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

6.10 End of life care proposals were considered as part of the presentation. As with 
national and local models of End of Life care, it was anticipated that there would be 
an increase in the number of people supported to die in their own homes or place of 
choice and a reduction in the number of people who die in hospital, including the 
new community hospital. 

6.11 To enable as many people as possible to die in their preferred place of choice, 
a local spot purchase model is in place for the Forest of Dean. Working in 
partnership with the Great Oaks Hospice, the aspiration is to provide bedded and 
outreach home based hospice care for local residents.

6.12 A range of other services, namely Endoscopy and Outpatient Care services 
will also feature in the consultation. As with other services, the impact of the 
COVID-19 Pandemic has resulted in necessary changes to the way in which 
services are delivered, including outpatient appointments and therapy treatments. 
Looking beyond the current arrangements, it was confirmed that it was the intention 
to deliver these services as close to home as possible with the potential for greater 
use of technology and virtual appointments. 

6.13  A range of outpatient services similar to those provided within the existing two 
hospitals will be provided at the new hospital. The new facility will be designed to 
take account of new ways of working and increased use of video consultation and 
technology. 

6.14 The range of diagnostic services being proposed will ensure a local and 
accessible service for investigations, including ultrasound and blood tests for 
patients attending outpatients or the urgent care unit.

6.15 A power-point presentation on the proposals was presented at the meeting 
and can be viewed here

6.16 Earlier concerns about conducting a consultation during a pandemic were 
reiterated by several members. One member referred to the older demographic of 
the district and the impact on this sector of the population from having to make 
changes to the methods of engagement used during a pandemic. This and the 
limitations to residents without the benefit (or with poor and unreliable) 
broadband/digital technology were highlighted as significant concerns. Another 
concern was the potential feeling of isolation experienced by some members of the 
community from not being offered face to face consultations and treatment during 
the lockdown period. In spite of reassurances provided at the meeting, the 
committee requested that these considerations be taken in to account as part of the 
consultation. 

6.17 Other concerns included i) the need for increased hospital provision to align 
with changes in the demographics of the district ii) the impact of people locating to 
the area/commuting to Bristol/Cardiff; iii) infrastructure concerns, including the need 
to overcome connectivity issues and pressures placed on SWAST from transport 
issues prevalent to the district; iv) concerns about the proposed low number of beds 
at the new hospital. 

Page 14

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s65942/Item%206%20iii%20Community%20Hospital%20in%20the%20Forest%20of%20Dean%20-%20Consultation%202020%20-%20Final%20HOSC%20presentation.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

6.18 Responding to the concerns, members were reminded of the network of health 
provision available in the district, which would be used to support the community 
hospital. Services offered by community health centres and GP surgeries were 
described as critical elements of a joined up approach to delivering health care 
provision for the district. 

6.19 Locality based teams already established in the district and the ‘Home First’ 
model of care were a further two approaches that would be used to overcome 
members concerns. 

6.20 Questioning the need for maternity care provision in the district, members 
were advised of the support available to provide home births in the district. This and 
the need to balance providing maternity services at Gloucestershire Royal and 
Bristol against the financial cost of providing a local maternity facility and the 
required standards of equipment and staffing expertise were significant factors to 
take into consideration. 

6.21 Reaffirming the reassurances provided earlier in the meeting, in response to 
concerns on how the consultation would be delivered during the current pandemic, 
Dr Andy Seymour, Clinical Chair of Gloucestershire CCG, outlined a wide range of 
consultation and assessment processes to be used to engage with the public and 
seek feedback on the proposals. Dr Seymour also outlined some of the measures 
currently in place to provide effective and as normal as possible service provision 
during the COVID-19 crisis. Such measures included video and, wherever possible, 
face to face consultations.

6.22 The next stages and proposed timeline for the Forest Hospital consultation 
was confirmed as: - 

 Consultation Launch Date – 22 October 2020
 Consultation Close (end of 8 week consultation period) – 17 Dec 2020
 Consideration and review of consultation outcomes by CCG Governing Body 

– End of January 2021
 Complete Financial Business Case and progress to building of new hospital 

by Gloucestershire Health Care Foundation Trust Board – March 2021

It was agreed an update on the progress of the consultation would be considered 
as part of the accountable officer update report to the committee at its meeting on 
17 November 2020. 

7. WORK PLAN 

The following items were added to the committee work plan for consideration at the 
November and January committee meetings. 

17 November 2020 

 Community Phlebotomy Services Update 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

 SWASFT Performance Indicators (to include an update on ambulance 
response times in response to COVID-19 requirements) – it was noted that 
this item was dependent on the SWASFT being able to attend the meeting at 
short notice

 Consultation Progress Updates - to be included in the Accountable Officer 
Reports 

 COVID19 Update – to be included in the Accountable Officer Reports
 Review of HOSC Public Representation Process 
 Standard Accountable Officer Update Reports

In response to recent reports of ambulances queuing when admitting patients to 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital, the committee agreed it would be useful if the 
planned item to consider ambulance service performance indicators included 
information on the impact of the pandemic and on ambulance arrival times at 
GRH 

Tuesday 12 January 2021 

 Consultation Response Review – Fit for the Future
 Consultation Response Review – FOD Community Hospital
 Standard Accountable Officer Update Reviews 

Noting concerns at this and the previous meeting about HOSC members, (in 
particular co-opted district members), no longer having an opportunity to engage 
or ask questions on social care/mental health issues considered under the remit 
of the County Council’s Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
meetings, it was suggested that a discussion on the revised role of the 
committee and an update on the scrutiny review of the changes to the GCC 
scrutiny function made by full council in 2019 be included on the agenda at the 
January committee meeting. 

Members reinforced the strength of the discussion with concerns about not 
being able to direct questions to the GCC Director of Public Health and the 
Executive Director of Adult Social Care at HOSC meetings on the county’s 
response to the COVID-19 emergency. (Note: The Director of Public Health has 
since agreed to attend the November HOSC meeting to respond to the 
committee’s questions). 

Noting the decision made by Gloucestershire County Council to split the remit of 
the Gloucestershire Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee to provide 
proper scrutiny of both areas, it is further noted that, included within this decision 
is the proposal that two joint meetings be held each year to specifically consider 
issues around the remit of the former committee. Within the council decision, it 
was recognised that close links between Health, Adult Social Care and 
Children’s Services and the national agenda around health and care would 
mean holding joint briefings and task groups required from time to time involving 
health professionals. 

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

Note: A joint meeting involving HOSC members and the GCC Adult Social Care 
and Communities Scrutiny Committee will be held on 26 January 2021.

Committee Chair, Cllr Brian Robinson, noted the committees concerns and 
informed members that he would accept questions on issues relating to the 
COVID-19 emergency at future HOSC meetings.

It was confirmed that a review of the county’s scrutiny arrangements agreed by 
GCC in March 2019 would be undertaken by the GCC Democratic Services 
Team. The views of both scrutiny committees would be taken into consideration 
as part of the review with a report back to this committee at a future meeting. 

In the meantime, the agenda and papers from Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
meetings would be circulated to the members of each committee in advance of 
both meetings. 

Members were also encouraged to view/listen to GCC committee meetings via 
YouTube accessed from the home page of the GCC website.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.40pm

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)

17 November 2020 

Community Phlebotomy 

1. Introduction and summary of changes to community phlebotomy

In response to a Public Representation made to the HOSC meeting in September 2020, 
members requested that the CCG prepare a paper about community phlebotomy (blood 
testing) for HOSC to be discussed at their meeting in November 2020. The purpose of this 
paper is to brief members on the rationale for the changes to the way community 
phlebotomy is provided in the county and to provide an update on recent revisions to 
arrangements in the Cirencester area.

From the previous updates on this topic in March, July and September 2020, HOSC members 
will be aware that community phlebotomy has historically been provided in a range of 
settings and locations across Gloucestershire, including ‘drop in’ hospital clinics and at GP 
practices.  Blood tests are requested by a range of clinicians: GPs and hospitals based clinical 
teams. 

Whilst some patients have always accessed a local phlebotomy service from their GP 
Practice, there were also many other patients who had to travel into a hospital setting to 
have their bloods taken.  High levels of demand within the hospital setting led to long 
waiting times for many patients. At least once a week on average, hospital services had to 
close earlier than scheduled in order to manage safely the number of patients waiting, with 
some patients then needing to come back on another date.

The CCG wanted to improve this service for patients by ensuring all patients have timely 
access to a safe and high quality community phlebotomy service at a location as close to 
their home as possible and ensuring the provision of a consistent service across the county.  

There are a variety of clinical scenarios where a patient might be asked to have a blood test.  
In general terms, following the change introduced this summer the responsibility to provide 
phlebotomy services for blood tests generated by a GP or practice nurse now falls to 
primary care and the responsibility to provide phlebotomy services for blood tests 
generated as part of a hospital outpatient appointment are the responsibility of the hospital 
managing the patients care.  

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



2

Therefore, from 1 July 2020 (from 17 August in Cirencester) the CCG has funded all 73 
Gloucestershire CCG Member GP practices to provide this service to their patients in their 
own practice for primary care requested blood tests.  In the Cirencester area, in response to 
feedback from patients regarding accessing services, additional temporary arrangements 
have been put in place, with permanent alternative additional arrangements commencing 
from 2 December 2020, for patients to book secondary care blood tests at Cirencester 
Community Hospital at the request of their consultants.  

4. Changes in more detail to community phlebotomy 

Changes were made to the way in which community phlebotomy services were provided 
across Gloucestershire in July and August 2020. This involved providing all GP surgeries in 
Gloucestershire with additional funds specifically to provide phlebotomy services to manage 
local requirements.  As a result the CCG spending on community phlebotomy services has 
increased such that it is higher than in previous years to help ensure patients receive a 
timely and high quality service.

With this funding, all GP practices agreed to provide a service that accommodates both 
routine and urgent blood tests, including a same day service when clinically required.  GP 
practices are also able to offer suitable appointment times for patients requiring specific 
blood tests e.g. fasting blood tests.  It was expected that patients would not have to wait 
longer than clinically necessary from the time of referral for their phlebotomy appointment.  
With individual GP practices now offering this service to their patients there is more 
certainty around appointments.  However, it should be noted that social distancing 
requirements associated with COVID-19 may mean that it takes longer than usual to get an 
appointment.

Prior to the changes some patients had, for some time, been offered blood tests within their 
GP practice. In other parts of the county patients have had to attend a hospital for a blood 
test; either at Gloucestershire Royal, Cheltenham General or Cirencester Hospitals. 

Previously the total demand for phlebotomy at each of these three hospital sites was often 
so great that it outstripped the resources available.  As a result the services frequently (at 
least once a week on average) needed to close early due to high levels of patients waiting 
over and above the available capacity within the opening hours.  Feedback was also 
received from phlebotomy leads about verbal abuse directed at staff due to early closures 
and long waiting times.

GP practices, which previously would have used these hospital services, have now 
established in-house phlebotomy capacity to manage their own community phlebotomy 
needs.  As a result, the hospital based phlebotomy services at Gloucestershire Royal and 
Cheltenham General Hospitals are now able to manage their outpatient secondary care 
phlebotomy demand successfully.  A reduction in footfall at these sites has also allowed 

Page 20



3

them to provide a COVID-secure service, which would not have been possible prior to the 
changes.  

For those patients who already accessed GP requested blood tests in their local GP practice, 
there is no change for the patient; but GP practices are now remunerated for providing this 
service to their patients.  For those patients who would have made use of hospital ‘drop in’ 
phlebotomy clinics for GP requested blood tests, the move to a new service model with 
phlebotomy provided from their GP practice, is intended to result in reduced travel and 
waiting times and the avoidance of hospital car parking charges (at Cheltenham General and 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospitals).  

5. Changes to the phlebotomy service available from Cirencester Hospital

At the same time that changes were made to community phlebotomy across the county, 
there were additional, but separate, changes made to the secondary care phlebotomy 
services at Cirencester Hospital provided by Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust.  These changes resulted in some patients needing to travel to further for secondary 
care requested phlebotomy appointments where their GP practices were unable to 
accommodate urgent requests. 

As a result, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust very quickly reinstated a 
bookable Monday morning phlebotomy clinic at Cirencester Hospital for patients needing 
bloods as part of their consultant outpatient care.  This service was extended to two 
bookable morning clinics a week from the week commencing 12 October 2020. 

As of Monday 2 November 2020, Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 
assumed responsibility for providing the phlebotomy service at Cirencester Hospital, such 
that patients aged 16 and over whose consultant requires them to have a blood test will be 
able to access this service three days per week (Monday, Tuesday and Friday).   To manage 
resources effectively and ensure safe social distancing measures, this service will continue 
to be a bookable service.  Bookings will be made by telephone and patients can access the 
booking line (0300 421 6215) every weekday between 9am and 3pm to arrange their 
appointment.  

Pending the successful recruitment of additional staff, the service expects to extend the 
service to five days a week from December 2020.

6. Future plans

COVID-19 concerns around patients attending an acute hospital setting, coupled with the 
general direction of travel towards more non-face to face consultant appointments, has led 
to a significant increase in demand within primary care for blood tests, including blood tests 
for oncology patients and patients with long term conditions.

Page 21



4

This rapid increase in demand is such that it is frequently outstripping the phlebotomy 
capacity available within primary care and is not covered by the funding that has been 
provided to them.  Work is therefore underway with ICS partners to help develop a more 
sustainable and countywide approach to phlebotomy required as a result of this change and 
the ongoing transformation of outpatient services and more virtual appointments.

November 2020

Page 22



1

Report Title Gloucestershire CCG Performance report

November 2020

Purpose of Report The performance framework report provides the Committee with an overview of Gloucestershire

CCG performance against the NHS constitutional and other agreed standards.

A full summary of performance against national and local standards as reported to GCCG Governing

Body is included, with supporting narrative to inform members of key system actions to

support continued performance or mitigating actions to give assurance where performance is below

target or there is outlying variation across the county.

Is this for information

or decision?

This Report is for information.

Authors Kat Doherty, Senior BI Manager, GCCG

Key Issues:

• There has been widespread impact of COVID-19 on activity and performance across the system, affecting nearly every

service and target.

• While some activity recovery is underway, this is at risk over winter due to continued impact of COVID-19 both in terms of

direct impact on services and patient behaviour, and challenges remain due to configurational, infection control and staffing

issues.

• Performance in Gloucestershire compares well to the national position, with the exception of performance to the 4 hour ED

performance target.

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 6



Contents

This document is a highlight report which is presented to give the CCG Governing Body an overview 

of current CCG and provider performance across a range of national priorities and local standards. 

Performance updates

1.0 Performance Summary

– 1.1 Urgent Care 

– 1.2 System Flow

2.0 Planned Care

– 2.1 Diagnostics

– 2.2 RTT

3.0 Cancer

– 3.1 2 week wait

– 3.2 62 day treatment

4.0 Mental Health

– 4.1 IAPT

5.0 Continuing Health Care

– 5.1 Referrals

– 5.2 Assessment

2

P
age 24



1.0 Performance Dashboard

78.4

%

Performance
(all Gloucestershire 

patients)

2 Week 

Waits

2 Week 

Waits Breast

31 Day 1st

Treatment

31 Day Waits 

Surgery 

90.9%

31 Day Waits 

Drugs 

31 Day Waits 

Radiotherapy

62 Day GP 

Referral

62 Day 

Screening

62 Day 

Upgrade

97.8% 96.8% 100% 89.7%

Planned Care

RTT 

Diagnostics

September 

2020

RTT Incomplete <18 weeks        RTT 52 week breaches

All Providers  GHFT           All Providers GHFT   

Diagnostics >6 weeks

(All providers)       (GHFT)              .

Diagnostics >6 weeks (YTD)

(All providers)          (GHFT)

26.3%

Unscheduled 

Care 

4 Hour A&E  

Sept-20 

(System)

4 Hour A&E  

Sept-20

(GHFT)

Category 1 Ambulance

September-20

(Gloucestershire) 

Category 1 Ambulance

September -20

SWAST

83.9% 69.2% 7.7 mins 7.7 mins

Delayed Transfers of 

Care (DToC)

Reporting suspended 

nationally

IAPT  
(August 2020)

Access
(target 1.53%)

Recovery
(target 50%)

1.15% 55.7%

GHFT 

Performance

Cancer 

Dashboard 
(August 2020)

22.7%

Dementia 

Diagnosis

(August 

2020)

Estimated Diagnosis 

Rate (Target 66.7%)

63.7%

67.6% 68.4% 1023

91.6% 95.7% 96.7% 92.3% 100% 89.1%

1218

Arrow direction reflects performance 

from previous month

34.0% 30.9%

91.4%

75.0% 93.3%

88.9% 

97.1%

96.9% 75.0% 

P
age 25



4

1.0 National Performance Summary

Performance against key standards continues to follow the national trends, however with the exception of 

A&E, Gloucestershire performance generally improves on the national position. There has been a significant 

decline in overall A&E performance locally, as a result of the COVID-19 measures around infection, 

prevention and control, social distancing, and particular pressure on performance at the GRH site, partly 

compounded by the overall reduction in MIIU attendances across the county, which disproportionately 

affects the 4 hour performance standard. 

Cancer performance has significantly improved in Gloucestershire, particularly in the 62 day standard which 

continues to meet the target for the second month in August 2020, and compares well to the national 

position across all cancer targets.  RTT and diagnostics performance standards continue to be severely 

impacted by the COVID-19 response but performance has stabilised and shows some signs of recovery.

Target Reporting Period National Gloucestershire

A&E 4 hour September-20 87.2% 83.9%

Ambulance – Cat 1 September-20 7.3 minutes 7.7 minutes

RTT – 18 week Setember-20 53.6% (Aug20) 67.6%

Diagnostics – 6 week September-20 38.0% (Aug20) 26.3%

Cancer 2ww August-20 87.8% 91.6%

Cancer 62 day August-20 77.9% 89.1%

IAPT recovery August -20 52.0% 53.9%

Dementia Diagnosis August-20 63.1% 63.7%

P
age 26



8

1.1 System Overview Unscheduled Care

P
age 27



9

1.1 System Overview Unscheduled Care

P
age 28



10

1.1 Unscheduled Care - 4 hour A&E

In September, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (RTE) saw 69.2% of patients in 4 hours or less in a Type 1 

setting. Gloucestershire STP saw 83.9% of patients in all settings within 4 hours.

GHFT’s performance has dropped compared to August’s 72.9%, and Gloucestershire STP has also had a drop in performance 

from August’s 85.0%. Of the 114 providers nationally who also provided Type 1 A&E service, GHFT ranked 105th. This the 

same as last month’s rank. Gloucestershire STP ranked 33rd of the 41 STPs in overall percentage of attendances within 4 

hours and 36th of the 41 STPs with Type 1 activity. Both of these are improvements from the previous month’s rankings of 35th

and 39th respectively.

Activity through the A&E department at the GRH site specifically has risen to levels similar to the pre-COVID position, despite 

overall activity remaining below pre-COVID levels.  Constraints over space in the emergency department are also contributing 

to difficulties in maintaining 4 hour performance at the GRH site which currently has the capacity to manage around 80% of 

pre-COVID activity.  An overall reduction in attendances at CGH and all other MIIU sites countywide means that breaches at 

the GRH site have a greater impact on overall system performance. 

P
age 29



8

1.1 4 Hour performance by site (GHFT)

P
age 30



1.1 Unscheduled Care Updates

Cinapsis (Hot advice from specialty consultants for medical emergency referrals):

In response to the COVID situation two new services have been added to Cinapsis, COVID-19 Adult Admissions and 

COVID-19 Palliative Care Advice.  As well as GPs, Cinapsis has been extended to other clinical referring organisations 

and their teams, OOH, MIIU, Rapid Response, GPs in community hospitals, Community Mental Health Services and 

the SWAST Paramedics. SWAST are now also using Cinapsis for advice around conveyance of medical patients. 

Cinapsis continues to expand across all medical specialties, with the aim that 80-90% of GP referrals will be through 

Cinapsis following full implementation.  It is expected that Cinapsis will contribute to the demand management for 

urgent care services over the Winter period.

NHS 111:

NHS111 call activity in September has continued to rise and is also above the level of demand for the same period in 

2019.  Performance against the calls answered standard (calls answered within 60 seconds)  has dropped, with 66.0% 

calls answered within 60 seconds in September 2020. Call outcomes in September have changed slightly, with a lower 

proportion of patients directed to ED or receiving an ambulance disposition. Category 3 and 4 ambulance dispositions 

continue to be carried out by CareUK wherever possible to ensure patients are accessing the most appropriate 

pathway. 

Work is continuing around strengthening the validation of ED and ambulance dispositions from NHS111 to reduce 

unnecessary ED attendances and ambulance call outs.  With a timeframe to roll out in time to support winter demand 

management, national initiative “Think NHS111” is being modelled, with the expectation that up to 20% of “unheralded” 

(i.e. self-referred) demand to ED departments could be given advice or directed to a more appropriate care setting. 

OOH:

OOHs has responded well to the demands of the COVID-19 pandemic and have mirrored models applied within in 

hours Primary care with a red/green approach to case management. A significant amount of contacts are managed via 

telephone advice, supported by videoconferencing. There has been a significant shift in how patients are managed with 

reduced face to face and home visits being undertaken, and a reduction in overall activity due to changes in patient 

behaviour.  Face-to-face attendances have remained very low due to these new ways of working and continue to be 

around 1/3 of the face-to-face contacts in terms of total activity compared to pre-COVID levels.

P
age 31



12

1.1 Unscheduled Care - Ambulance Category 1

Gloucestershire performance in Category 1 response time was 7.7 minutes against the 7 minute target (90th 

percentile performance was 14.4 minutes).

YTD performance across Gloucestershire is 7.1 minutes on average.  SWAST Performance across all 

geographical areas (South West) was 7.7 minutes in August, with year to date average of 7.1 minutes.

Conveyancing to A&E decreased significantly as a proportion of incident outcomes over the lockdown period 

in March and April.  It remains slightly below pre-lockdown levels in terms of proportional conveyances at 

47% (compared to 2019 average of 49%) however overall numbers remain very similar, with around 4000 

conveyances to ED departments in September 2019 and September 2020.

P
age 32



13

1.1 Unscheduled Care - Ambulance Category 2

Category 2 performance has deteriorated from its strong position seen during the initial response to COVID-19 with 
average time of 22.3 minutes against the 18 minute target (90th percentile performance was 43.4 minutes) in 
September. Incident numbers have risen significantly and are now above the 2019 September position in 
Gloucestershire and over the whole of the South West. The South West region is working together to prioritise 
schemes for management of SWAST demand and support in reducing 999 calls where a suitable alternative 
response exists, conveyances to ED or other emergency care settings.

Total handover delays > 30 minutes decreased by 19 from August to September at GRH – however handover delays 
remain significantly higher than the same period in 2019/20 .  Over the whole South West region handover delays 
have been rising at most large acute sites (in particular Bristol).

Handover delays > 1hr decreased by 12 from August to September 2020 at GRH.

Handover delays lasting more than 1 hour have risen significantly in August and September compared with the 
previous 16 months.  Handover delays tend to be most frequent in the afternoon and early evening at the GRH site

P
age 33



12

1.1 Ambulance response times by locality (category 1)

P
age 34



14

1.2 Delayed Transfers of Care

From March 2020, national reporting of DToCs has been postponed to support trusts by removing some 

reporting requirements to free up staff capacity.  

The latest daily average (over week commencing 12th October) for DToCs in GHFT was 12 delays/day –

which has stabilised from the increasing numbers seen in July and August, however delays are contributing 

to a rising medically stable position at GHFT, which in turn is causing challenges with flow of patients through 

the acute hospital. 

While delayed transfer of care have remained low in the community hospital settings, DToCS have begun to 

rise in mental health inpatient settings from the low point seen during the COVID-19 lockdown period.  In 

August 2020, the days lost to delayed discharges reduced compared to July but were still above 3.5% of all 

bed days at 133 days – with the primary reason for delay being “awaiting public funding” followed by 

“awaiting a suitable place in a care or nursing home”.

P
age 35



15

1.2 Long Stay (>21 day LoS)

Long stays have been increasing at GHFT and are now rising above the national target for reducing long 

stays (which for GHFT is no more than 114 patients with a stay of over 21 days).  As a total proportion of 

stays, the % of long stay patients has risen significantly in the last month, with GHFT in the highest quartile 

of acute hospitals nationally for proportion of patients remaining in hospital more than 21 days (compared 

with the pre-COVID baseline).

P
age 36



16

2.0 System Overview - Planned Care

P
age 37



17

2.1 Planned Care - Diagnostic >6 weeks

Overall performance in September continues to improve on the April/ May position for the CCG however 

remains significantly above the <1% of patients waiting more than 6 weeks for a diagnostic test standard at 

26.3% (lowest performance level was May at 47.7%).  The GHFT position has also improved this month to 

22.67%. All tests bar electrophysiology failed to meet the <1% standard, with endoscopy tests still having the 

highest % of patients waiting more than 6 weeks due to almost complete cancellation of some activity 

throughout April, and reduction in activity since then due to ongoing infection control constraints.

September activity has increased compared with August by 12.13% but remains lower than activity in 

September 2019 by 7.22%.  The waiting list has now reached the volume of the pre-COVID period, but the 

distribution has altered significantly, with a much higher % of patients waiting more than 6 weeks for a 

diagnostic test – 3,049 patients across GCCG in September, with 2,114 of the breaches occurring at GHFT.  

Overall the waiting list has increased since August with a 12% increase in total patients waiting.

P
age 38



18

2.2 RTT

Performance for September was 67.6% 

of GCCG patients on a consultant led 

treatment waiting list waiting under 18 

weeks, which is an improvement August 

position (61.2%).  GHFT performance 

was 68.4% (August 62.4%).  

There were 1218 GCCG patients waiting 

over 52 weeks with incomplete treatment 

in September, with 1023 at GHFT.  T&O 

and “Other” specialties have seen the 

largest increases in 52 week breaches.

Activity has been resuming for elective 

care following the NHSE directive to 

suspend all routine care for the COVID-

19 response.  Performance has been 

declining nationally as activity 

decreased, with larger numbers of 

patients waiting more than 18 weeks for 

completed treatment.    Referral volumes 

have also decreased and have still not 

fully recovered which has led to an 

increase in the total proportion of the 

waiting list waiting for longer – also 

affecting performance. The waiting list 

has stabilised, with September total list 

size at 52,204 patients awaiting 

treatment – up from August’s position.

P
age 39



3.0 2ww Overview Cancer

19

P
age 40



3.0 System Overview Cancer

20

P
age 41



3.0 System Overview Cancer

21

P
age 42



3.1 Cancer - 2 week waits

August 2 week wait performance dipped slightly to 91.5%, having been above the 93% target since May this 

year. GHFT achieved 91.4% for GCCG patients (90.4% across all patients regardless of commissioner).  

All specialties met the 93% target with the exception of haematological cancers, and Upper GI cancers – for 

Haematology there was 1 breach (8 total patients), and for Upper GI there were 105 breaches (194 total 

patients).  

This reflects the reversion to the straight to endoscopy pathway for Upper GI cancers, resulting in a backlog 

for gastroscopy diagnostics (of 154 total breaches in August – 105 were in Upper GI).  Performance is 

expected to recover in September as this backlog is resolved.

22

P
age 43



3.2 Cancer - 62 days

Performance against the 62 day standard was met for the second month in a row for both GCCG patients 

and across patients at GHFT.  For GCCG patients, there were  21 breaches in total in the following sites:  2 

in Breast (96.3%), 1 in Haematological malignancies (83.3%), 1 in Head & Neck (88.9%), 5 in Lower GI 

(61.5%), 2 in Lung (77.8%), 1 in Sarcoma (0%), 1 in Upper GI (91.7%) and 8 in Urology (75.8%).

104 breaches

At GHFT, as of the 7th September, there are 12 patients waiting more than 104 days for treatment – which is 

the lowest number since GHFT’s records for this target began, and is the lowest for all trusts across the 

SWAG region.  The waits are predominantly due to COVID related factors – e.g. delays to diagnostics and 

patients self-isolating/ shielding.

23

P
age 44



3.8 System Overview: Mental Health - IAPT

25

P
age 45



26

4.1 Mental Health - IAPT

IAPT access rates have stabilised following 

the significant decline which occurred during 

the COVID response period, now averaging 

around 15% of the estimated population who 

could benefit from the service accessing it 

(annual equivalent).  The COVID-19 

response impacted both the service’s ability 

to offer the volume of activity and patient 

choice in taking up therapy at this time, and 

demand is still recovering, with the service 

achieving access of 83% of the pre-COVID 

target, and which benchmarks similarly to 

other services across the South West 

region.

Group therapy for IAPT has now resumed 

via online services such as MS Teams, 

which will allow patients a greater choice for 

their therapy.  Referral rates have also 

increased, with the expectation that access 

rates will further rise in September and 

October accordingly.

Recovery rates for the IAPT service were 

also negatively impacted in the early part of 

the COVID response as patients chose to 

not complete therapy and due to the need to 

reorganise the service some sessions were 

cancelled.  From June onwards however, 

the service has achieved the national 

recovery standard of 50% of those patients 

completing therapy moving to recovery, with 

the August recovery rate reaching 55.7%.

P
age 46



5.1 Continuing Health Care - Referrals

29

As of 19th March all CHC assessments were suspended to support the COVID-19 response. All discharges from 

hospitals which would previously have been “Discharge to assess” or similar, (Acute & Community) and all Fast 

Track referrals became ‘COVID Interim Funded’.  All outstanding CHC assessments were put on hold as the CHC 

nurses were deployed to assist the discharge process from hospitals around the county. 

Fast track referrals were still made from community settings where appropriate, but these were also classed as 

COVID Interim Funded for April.  From May onwards, community Fast Track referrals resumed and were no longer 

classified as COVID Interim Funded.

Positive and negative checklists had continued to be submitted to the CHC team; however the 28 day period did not 

apply for assessment of these referrals, and volumes significantly reduced over the COVID lockdown period and 

beyond.

From 1st September, the COVID interim funding pathway has changed, so that now acute discharges requiring 

assessment or interim care follow a COVID discharge pathway.  This will be funded for up to 6 weeks per patient by 

NHSE to facilitate discharge and will include end of life referrals from the acute, who would previously have been 

Fast Track patients, as well as other bed based pathways (for example non-weight bearing beds).  As acute end of 

life discharges are not currently counted in the Fast Track numbers, it appears Fast Track referrals are lower than in 

2019/20, however this is likely due to the change in pathway rather than a true reduction in numbers.

P
age 47



5.2 Continuing Health Care Assessments completed in 28 days

From 1st September national monitoring of the 28 day target for assessment time was reintroduced, with all 

referrals made from this time subject to the target.  This also includes patients who were previously interim 

COVID funded but have had a positive checklist completed (so far around 50% of interim COVID funded 

patients have received a positive checklist).  

In September, 79 referrals were concluded with 15% carried out in 28 days.  There are 105 cases 

outstanding initial assessment following positive checklist as of the end of September.

For all other COVID interim funded patients, funding will continue until March 31st 2021, but patients must be 

assessed by this date.  There is a dedicated team set up within CHC who are working in collaboration with 

Adult Social Care to move appropriate patients onto other funding streams.  

COVID discharge pathway – September 2020:

30

P
age 48



ICS Lead’s Report 1

         Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)

                                             November 2020

                            One Gloucestershire ICS Lead Report

Since March 2020, the Health and Care system in Gloucestershire has been responding to the 

COVID-19 pandemic as a major incident. Our incident response has seen significant changes to 

the way health and social care is being delivered to our population. The following report provides 

an update to HOSC members on the work of key programme and projects across Gloucestershire’s 

Integrated Care System (ICS) during this time.

Some of our programmes’ focus has inevitably changed during the pandemic and certain activities 

have been accelerated or prioritised because of the Covid-19 response. As numbers of 

Coronavirus positive cases continue to rise we will carry on focusing on demand on services 

including winter pressures and ongoing recovery from Phase 1 of the pandemic. This includes 

continuing to return to a new ‘business as usual’, restarting our programmes as appropriate, and 

reprioritising in light of the new environment we are operating in. Our Phase 3 plan in response to 

the NHS Covid-19 Pandemic Guidance has been submitted and this further outlines our future 

plans. 

From April 2020 we moved into the fourth year of our Sustainability and Transformation plan. One 

of the roles of the ICS is to improve the quality of Health and Care by working in a more joined up 

way as a system. One ‘silver lining’ of the Covid-19 incident is that we have many new examples of 

excellent system working and delivery of best practice during the past few months, which the ICS 

have captured and intend to build on as we move forward. 

COVID-19 Response
The incident response has been delivered through a bronze, silver and gold command structure, 

working in partnership with the Local Resilience Forum and co-ordinating the NHS response across 

partner organisations. As numbers of positive Coronavirus cases continue to rise the work of the 

cells carry on evolving to ensure that the system is able to respond to pressures over the 

forthcoming months and through ongoing recovery. 

1. Introduction

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



ICS Lead’s Report 2

Covid-19 Recovery
In recent weeks we know that there has been an increase in Gloucestershire residents access 

Covid-19 tests and a rise in levels of confirmed cases. The number of patients requiring admission 

to hospital has also risen over the past two weeks. The situation is being carefully monitored and 

we are responding to the changes in national guidance. As emphasised nationally everyone should 

continue to access planned and emergency health and care services as planned/required during 

the national lockdown period. The Director of Public Health will provide the November 2020 HOSC 

meeting with an up to date briefing. 

Our system continues to work on the recovery and restoration programme set out by the NHS 

which describes how health and care services will return to near normal levels of delivery. The 

Gloucestershire system has made very good progress in re-establishing services and promoting 

access to those services however there is recognition that services cannot return to previous 

operating models for a range of reasons: 

 Loss of productivity due to increased need for infection control measures in all health and 

care services, which include but is not limited to extended use of PPE for staff and patients, 

additional requirements for cleaning between patients, social distancing measures limiting 

the use of services delivered to groups and access to facilities 

 The ongoing additional support needed for people in the shielded and vulnerable categories, 

coupled with these services needing to be delivered through virtual means

 Preparation for increased winter pressures, including the second peak of Covid-19 and the 

potential for these to coincide with a future seasonal flu peak.

We will continue to provide as much routine activity as possible throughout the second peak of 

Covid-19. During the week ending 25th October our initial data shows that we saw more people as 

outpatients than for the same week in 2019 (5% more patients than last year) and operations were 

at 95% of the 2019 level. 

The work on the future needs of the Gloucestershire population will be a major focus as this work 

progresses. We are keen to use a wide range of sources of information including feedback from 

the public, patients, carers and staff to help plan how we need to change and adapt to different 

needs going forwards. Patient feedback from a wide range of surveys and engagement activities 

over the summer have been collated and bronze cells are auctioning changes within their 

programmes of work in response to this feedback.

Page 50



ICS Lead’s Report 3

 Focus on Carers 

Supporting Carers beyond COVID-19: Survey Summer 2020 

Background and context
Covid-19 has changed our lives and tested us all in ways we may never have imagined. The 

Carers UK Report ‘Caring Behind Closed Doors’ and a daily log from Gloucestershire Carers Hub 

during lockdown, highlighted the increased pressure this has put on carers nationally. Carers, many 

of whom were already feeling isolated and lonely, found themselves even more strained with a lack 

of respite and a level of uncertainty that led many to feel anxious. Carers UK also estimate that 

Covid-19 has led to an increase of 4.5million carers countrywide so far. With carers providing so 

much support to our health and social care systems that are facing unprecedented pressures, we 

all need to identify, support and value carers in our county.

National results – “Caring behind Closed Doors: six months on, Oct 2020”, Carers UK

An online survey was circulated (August/September 2020) inviting Gloucestershire Carers to tell us 

how they felt and what could support them. The survey was completed by 273 carers (82% adult 

carers, 16% parent carers, 25% male, 75% female from a variety of age brackets).

Page 51



ICS Lead’s Report 4

Purpose of the survey 
1. To amplify the voices of carers in Gloucestershire and share carers stories, experiences and 

concerns with people all across the health and social care system, as well as the voluntary 

and private sectors. 

2. To ensure we put in place support for carers in preparation for a second wave over the 

winter period. We will ensure actions we take in a ‘you said, we will’ plan will reflect what 

carers need and want. It has also informed the Gloucestershire Carers Partnership Boar 

revised Action Plan.

Responses and Main Themes

 Which of the following best describes how you feel about the relaxation of lockdown? 43.6% 
are going to continue to restrict their social circle and activities for a little longer

 What activities are you looking forward to returning to, or would be interested in taking up, 

over the next couple of months? 1) Being outdoors/spending time in nature/gardening 2) 
Social activities with friends and family 3) Exercise

 What might stop you from doing these things? 1) My cared for’s health 2) Someone to 
look after my cared for 3) My own health

What support could be put in place to help you achieve these ambitions?

Carer bubble 
(exclusive group that 

could meet either 
inside or out), 24.2%

Peer group (attend 
with cared for), 

17.6%

Peer group (attend 
independently of 
cared for), 16.8%

Wellbeing event, 
focusing on support 

for carers, 26.7%

Access to transport, 
9.5%

Equipment, 6.2%

Support from your 
employer, 6.2%

GP Co-ordinator to 
support you/link you 

with community 
activities, 24.2%

Other, 21.2%

Page 52



ICS Lead’s Report 5

Overarching themes
We had a final open-ended question, with most carers leaving comments. We have read all of the 

comments and understand the following:

 Many carers mental health is being affected by the current situation. Many are feeling 

anxious and stressed. 

 Many carers are very worried about Covid- 19 and do not want to put themselves or the 

person they care for at risk of the virus.

 Respite is still crucial for carers.

 Some carers are feeling abandoned by healthcare professionals (this is not pointed at 

individual healthcare professionals and we understand that decisions were made at a 

national level that effected our local picture)

 Many carers do not know where to go for help and support.

 There is more we can do to better utilise technology to support carers.

Next steps
We have already taken some action in response to this. For example, we are presenting the results 

of the survey at various meetings, such as CCG Executive Group and ASP Community Cluster. 

Gloucestershire Carers Hub is also organising a Gloucestershire Carers Rights Week in November, 

which will showcase wellbeing support for carers utilising technology. We are also exploring how 

the social prescribing services in the county can better connect with carers support to ensure the 

pathways are effective.

Page 53



ICS Lead’s Report 6

The Clinical Programme Groups (CPGs) have all highlighted the impact of Covid-19 on the 

transformation programmes and continue to work through the incident and recovery phases. Where 

projects are able they are continuing to run but adapting their approach in light of Covid-19 

restrictions. Where projects are unable to continue contingency plans have been drawn up and new 

methods of delivery put into place. There is also opportunity to fast track some work programme 

content (i.e. non face to face appointments). The Cancer, Diabetes, and Respiratory Clinical 

Programme Groups have a high priority within the Covid- 19 response given the impact on people 

with these conditions. Cancer performance has improved significantly where patients waiting for 

referral under the 2 week wait have been treated and Gloucestershire is exceeding national 

performance averages. 

Recovery priority areas include;

 Respiratory – Covid and Non Covid pathways

 Cancer (including implementation of Faecal Immunochemical Test - FIT)

 Frailty pathway

 End of Life Care

 Muscular Skeletal  (MSK) Pathways

These areas have important links to;

 Mental Health pathways including social prescribing

 Diagnostics

 Use of remote technology including digital methods for advice and guidance between GPs 

and hospital clinicians.

These will sit alongside the existing CPG priority areas. All pathways are keen to build on the 

momentum of changes made to date, for example the use of virtual appointments and are looking 

to prioritise patient and public involvement to inform substantiating or introducing new changes.

                                      2. Clinical Programme Approach

Page 54



ICS Lead’s Report 7

Focus on COVID-19 Virtual Wards

 
Covid-19 has presented many challenges to health services including how to adapt services to 

reflect what we learn about this disease and how we can change the way it develops. Whilst most 

patients will be able to remain at home, some presenting with Covid-19 can present with severe 

hypoxia (when the body does not have enough oxygen). These patients may not recognise 

themselves as being unduly unwell at that point and are often not demonstrating familiar symptoms 

of breathlessness and wheeze. This has been described as silent hypoxia and is often not picked 

up by the person or their Doctor. It is important to diagnosis this as early as possible as there are 

benefits to the person if the condition can be treated quickly. 

In response to this the idea of home oximetry (measuring the level of oxygen in a person’s blood in 

their own home) supported by clinicians in the form of a Virtual Ward has been developed and 

implemented in several regions around the United Kingdom. The aim of the Covid-19 virtual ward is 

to identify patients who are showing signs of early deterioration in the community and where 

clinically appropriate increase their care to provide better results for the person.

The Gloucestershire Covid Virtual Ward model has been developed to support clinicians to follow 

up and monitor patients (confirmed with or suspected to have Covid-19) at a higher risk of 

deterioration within their own homes. The Covid virtual ward model will be offered to appropriate 

patients in order to:

 Use pulse oximeters ( used to monitor oxygen levels in the blood) to keep a check on 

patients in their own homes for up to a 2 week period following a Covid diagnosis (or clinical 

assessment) 

 Promote easy access to assessment, diagnostics and treatment as required

 Considers the wider health needs of the patient

 Enables the follow up and safe discharge of a patient back to their normal routine care.

As a wave two pilot site in the national rollout programme, Gloucestershire is progressing Virtual 

Ward implementation early in November. A test of the virtual ward has been in place within a 

Primary Care Network in Gloucester City during October.

Page 55



ICS Lead’s Report 8

Focus on End of Life

During September 2020 three full day virtual joint events were held with an average of 70 

stakeholders from across the Palliative and End of Life Care (PEoLC) system attending each 

session. The events enabled internal and external partners across the ICS to review, refresh and 

reset Gloucestershire’s system-wide transformation approach to Palliative and End of Life Care. 

Prior to the event a survey of stakeholders indicated that the six ambitions were generally thought 

to be well implemented at a service level. However, there was recognition more could be done to 

join up across the county. Through the interactive event workshops these system needs were 

further discussed and clarified, taking into consideration the variety of services and partners 

involved across the PEoLC system. This resulted in the co-production of six system need areas:

1. Professionals confident in responding to the changing needs and wishes of people as they 

reach the end of life and communicating well with system colleagues;

2. Understanding the individual and their family (including their unique presentations and 

needs, and consideration for personal context e.g. culture, ethnicity, learning disability);

3. Shared knowledge of the full range of services and community assets in the county (so that  

people can be supported to access the right care at the right time for them);

4. Shared Care Plans to enable timely responses and good documentation of wishes (including 

digital solutions);

5. Smooth and supported transitions between children’s and adult PEoLC services;

6. A sustainable finance model to enable high quality PEoLC to meet the needs of our local 

communities. There is potential to use different commissioning models, such as integrated 

care provider contracts to promote a sustainable, systems approach

A follow-up joint event was held in October 2020 again adopting a systems approach with 

stakeholders from the ICS and external partners. This event enabled the identification of specific 

‘drivers’ and ‘change ideas’ for each of the six system needs. With oversight from the PEoLC 

Page 56



ICS Lead’s Report 9

Clinical Programme Group these ideas will inform the co-production of a personalised PEoLC 

countywide strategy.

Focus of Mental Health Services

An update on how some of our Mental Health services have adapted during the Covid-19 period to 

continue to offer services;

Victims of Sexual Assault and Abuse 

A flexible support pathway for children, young people and adults was in place prior to Covid-19 

offering a range of support services. During the pandemic counselling and emotional support 

services for victims and survivors of sexual violence have worked extremely proactively and flexibly 

to offer their support services via digital stages. This has enabled people to continue accessing 

support during this difficult time.

Eating Disorders

The service continues to offer urgent appointments and physical health monitoring adapting to 

Covid-19 restrictions. There is an expectation that referrals to the service will increase as we move 

out of the pandemic, in fact recently there has been an increase of 25%. Referral rate is being kept 

under weekly review.

The ‘Attend Anywhere’ scheme has been developed to provide an online platform for clinical 

interventions and feedback has been positive.

Children and young people wellbeing chat line Trailblazer

During the first phase of the pandemic, a children, and young people wellbeing chat line was 

available from Monday-Friday, 9-5pm for guidance and support, as well as a parent support line. 

Both of these functions then ran throughout the summer holidays. This has now been developed 

and extended and from September onwards includes a wellbeing lunch time ‘drop in’ service for 

Secondary Schools. This will hopefully be rolled out to all Trailblazer Secondary Schools by the end 

of October.

Page 57



ICS Lead’s Report 10

 

We have launched consultations on our hospital services transformation programmes, Fit for the 

Future and the Forest of Dean Community Hospital Programme. There is a new virtual 

engagement portal Get involved in Gloucestershire which is an online participation space where 

people can share views, experiences and ideas about local health and care services. This is 

accompanied by a short film clip of Dr Jeremy Welch describing Get Involved in Gloucestershire. 

The film can be found here https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XYwaqb-e3lU 

We are seeking the views of the public and staff on options for organising the following services:

 Acute Medicine (acute medical admissions)

 Gastroenterology inpatient services - medical care for stomach, pancreas, bowel or liver 

problems 

 General Surgery – conditions relating to the gut. Specifically, emergency general surgery, 

planned lower gastrointestinal (colorectal) surgery and planned day case surgery 

 Image Guided Interventional Surgery (IGIS)  – where surgeons use instruments with live 

images to guide the surgery

 Trauma and Orthopaedic inpatient services (T&O) - diagnosis and treatment of conditions 

relating to the bones and joints. 

The consultation follows an extensive period of public and staff engagement. Residents can find 

information on how options for services were arrived at and the public engagement that supported 

it in the consultation booklet. Because of the current COVID-19 situation, the NHS will be reaching 

out to people in a number of ways and offering a wider range of consultation activities, including on-

line options. 

We are open to receiving feedback until 17 December 2020. A independently run online Citizens’ 

Jury will be held in January 2021 to consider the feedback and make recommendations. 18 people 

from across Gloucestershire will be selected and paid to take part. A consultation review period will 

follow before decisions are made by the NHS in March 2021. 

3. One Place, One Budget, One System

Page 58

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XYwaqb-e3lU


ICS Lead’s Report 11

A New Community Hospital for the Forest of Dean
A Consultation inviting the public to comment on the proposals for the new community hospital in 

the Forest of Dean (consultation runs from 22 October – 17 December 2020). Planning for the new 

hospital in Cinderford is now at a stage where the proposals for the inpatient unit, outpatient 

services, urgent care, diagnostic services and other facilities on site can be discussed with the local 

community.

We hope our partners within health and care settings, across local authorities, and the voluntary 

and community sectors will encourage participation in this consultation, which is an important next 

step in the development of the new hospital.

The proposal is for a hospital which includes a 24-bed inpatient unit, urgent care facility, x-ray, 

ultrasound and endoscopy, and a range of consultation and treatment rooms for outpatient 

appointments. Experiences of providing care throughout the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic will also 

influence the final design, to minimise the risk of infections spreading and to allow for social 

distancing between staff and patients. The public consultation will run for eight weeks from 

Thursday 22 October to Thursday 17 December. The consultation materials and survey will be 

available online at www.fodhealth.nhs.uk or getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk.

As a Wave 2 Integrated Care System we are working towards increased integration to improve 

health and wellbeing, we believe that by all working better together, in a more joined up way, and 

using the strengths of individuals, carers and local communities, we will transform the quality of 

care and support we provide to local people. The System Development work stream captures the 

work to develop the overarching ICS programme. The responsibilities of this programme are as 

follows:

 Provide Programme Direction to the Gloucestershire ICS

 Manage a Communications and Engagement approach on behalf of the ICS, including ensuring 

the Health and Social Care Act duties regarding significant services changes are met in 

relationship to the ICS

 Ensure the ICS has a robust resources plan in place that all ICS partners are signed up to and 

that is aligned to organisational level plans.

4. Integrated Care System Development

Page 59

http://www.fodhealth.nhs.uk/


ICS Lead’s Report 12

 To ensure that the ICS has clear governance and performance management in place to ensure 

the system can manage and oversee delivery.

Due to the Covid-19 the 2020/21 the Publication of the Gloucestershire Long Term Plan (LTP) has 

been delayed. Some of the work-streams within the LTP have been accelerated in particular 

around staffing, outpatient care, digital streams & sustainability. This programme has submitted the 

system response to the national Phase 3 planning requirements that has set out the plan for 

Gloucestershire system over the next 6 months. The System Recovery Cell is leading ICS work on 

recovery and is particularly focused on bringing together all the feedback from the first wave of 

Covid-19 and ensuring that learning is understood and acted on as we move into the Winter period. 

We are continuing to review priorities and focus on creating sustainable services through the 

Winter period. Greater integration between partners can be seen in the models we have developed 

to help support hospital discharges over the next six months. 

Alongside this we are now restarting much of our ICS programme of work in a more focused way 

using digital platforms to bring people together. We also continue to connect to other systems 

nationally and ensure we are sharing our strengths and learning from others as well as developing 

as a system working together.

This report is provided for information and HOSC Members are invited to note the contents. 

Mary Hutton 

ICS Lead, One Gloucestershire ICS

5. Recommendations

Page 60



1

Gloucestershire Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)

17 November 2020 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 
Clinical Chair’s and Accountable Officer’s Report 

1. Introduction

Section A provides a general NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (GCCG) commissioner update, incorporating national consultations. 
Section B provides a commissioner update focussing on primary medical care.
Section C provides Trusts’ updates from: Gloucestershire Health and Care 
NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHT).

Integrated Care System (ICS)
ICS Lead Report is provided as a separate agenda item.

2. Section A: Local NHS Commissioner Update, 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(GCCG) 

These are items are for information and noting.
Please note some of the items reported below may also feature in more detail in 

other reports prepared for HOSC e.g. ICS Lead Report, wherever possible 
duplication is avoided.

2.1 Flu Planning update
The Annual Flu planning work is underway with a renewed focus on ensuring that 
the vaccine is accessible as possible to those who need it. 

The ongoing work and commitment to deliver the national seasonal influenza 
immunisation programme for 2020/21 builds on the experience from previous 
seasons and is more challenging this year in light of the impact of Covid-19 
pandemic and will require collaboration across many health, social care and local 
authority partners.

NHS England SW in their August 2020 letter to CCG Flu Leads states:
This is an exceptional year in many ways:

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



2

 Expansion of the flu cohorts, including year 7 school children, people who 
are shielding and their households and potentially 50 – 64 year olds

 The uptake ambitions for eligible populations have significantly increased.
 Complexities and restrictions of a covid19 environment
 Possibility of a second surge in Covid 19 cases or local outbreaks
 Possibility of a Covid 19 vaccination programme

The collaborative joint working approach across the Gloucestershire Integrated 
Care System (ICS) is facilitated with good communication and engagement with all 
partner organisations (GP practices, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHSFT, 
Gloucestershire Health and Care Services NHSFT (GHC), Gloucestershire County 
Council and community pharmacies).

Regular planning and update meetings have been scheduled and participated in 
since June 2020 at national, regional and local levels.

The regional meetings with Consultant in Public Health, Screening and 
Immunisation Lead for Public Health England (PHD) have highlighted areas that 
require particular attention this season and the local flu plans have been submitted 
to PHE in the South West for feedback

2.1.1 Uptake ambitions for priority groups
Partners across the ICS have been notified of the key areas which need to be 
addressed, in particular patients affected by health inequalities and those who in 
the ‘clinical at risk groups’. 

Joint working across the ICS will ensure those with health inequalities are included 
within the seasonal flu vaccination programme. (E.g. GHC will offer vaccinations to 
all existing District Nurse caseload patients who are housebound, and 
consideration will be given as to how the homeless healthcare team can offer 
vaccinations to those who are homeless.

The update ambition targets for flu vaccination in ‘clinical at risk groups’ and 
pregnant women have been increased from 55% in 2019-20 to 75% in 20-21.
To assist assurance around GP practices having robust call and recall systems for 
patients in high risk groups who need to be targeted and vaccinated, they plan this 
year to proactively confirm ethnicity for patients eligible for the flu vaccine which 
will also be helpful to support the Covid-19 vaccination programme when it is 
launched.

Additionally the importance of offering seasonal flu vaccinations to frontline health 
and social care workers (health and social care staff employed by a registered 
residential care/nursing home, registered domiciliary care provider, or a voluntary 
managed hospice provider) has been emphasised by an uptake ambition of 100% 
offer.

2.1.2 Primary Care – GPs
There are 73 GP Practices in Gloucestershire. The majority of flu plans have been 
developed by individual GP practices, with help and facilitation offered by the CCG 
Flu Planning Team. In light of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic some more 
innovative ways of delivering the vaccinations will be employed this year. Whilst 
many practices will continue to run flu sessions from their own premises, 

Page 62



3

arrangements are in place for provision of drive thru vaccination hubs at local 
community fire stations and other community areas or use the CCG engagement 
bus to provide access to vaccinations for people living in rural communities where 
travelling to the GP surgery may be difficult.

At the Countywide Patient Participations Group meeting in October 2020, PPG 
members reported positive experience of the innovative ways GP practices across 
the county have delivered Flu clinics to their patients. 

2.2 Covid- 19 Update 
The Director of Public Health will be attending the HOSC meeting to provide an 
update on county Covid-19 position. 

The following information provides an update on recent Covid-19 related activities.

2.2.1 Activity, Flow and Bed Planning (AFBP)
The AFBP cell has been focussing on implementing the NSHE/I Hospital 
Discharge Policy and Operating Model, released at the end of August 2020. The 
ICS is addressing this with multi-agency calls to establish processes and systems 
that facilitate safe, appropriate and effective discharges from hospitals in line with 
the requirements in the Operating Model. This work dovetails with implementation 
of the Transfer of Care Bureau and Enhanced Independence Offer previously 
communicated. 

Key achievements and items are as follows:

 Establishing the Transfer of Care Bureau – based in Gloucestershire Royal 
Hospital. A multi-agency, multi-disciplinary meeting to identify the most 
appropriate pathway for patients who have been identified as able to be 
discharged. The meetings are intended to support maintenance of flow 
through the system through speeding up referral to discharge processes 
and decision making to reduce a patient’s time in hospital. 

 Establishing a programme structure and approach to respond to the 
stipulations of the Hospital Discharge Policy and Operating Model. This 
includes a tracker of responsibilities for various providers and the CCG, and 
a governance/assurance process of reviewing risks and issues as they 
arise.

 Established a working group for the acute trust to support implementation of 
the policy requirements, ensuring an organisational approach that 
maximises benefits and effective processes to support a successful 
discharge experience for patients and staff, and effective partnership 
working with other providers to maximise flow through the system.

 There continues to be an emphasis on secure use of digital solutions to 
capitalise on efficiency potential in these new or amended processes. 
Access to electronic patient records (EPR) to support the Transfer of Care 
Bureau, and the implementation of a digital single referral form are key 
areas at present. Appropriate sharing of information is being adhered to in 
all aspects.

Page 63



4

2.2.2 Hospital Discharge Service Policy and Operating Model (HM Government 21 
August 2020) in readiness for the Covid-19 winter 2020/21
As part of the Covid-19 Phase 3 response in August 2020, HM Government 
released the new Hospital Discharge Service Policy and Operating Model 
(HDSPOM) for the winter of 20/21 and sustainability longer term. Gloucestershire 
has been successful in responding to the requirements and is working as a system 
to implement the governance structures and processes to support the policy and 
model expectations. Following evaluation of our phase 1 and 2 response, system 
changes and transformations have been reviewed and where possible 
strengthened and extended to support the 2020/21 Covid-19 winter.

It is important to note that as a system we cannot implement a model without 
ensuring a clear governance framework for processes, education of users and 
implementation to ensure the new pathways 0 to 3 aligned to the HDSPOM, are 
effective and patients/service users appropriately referred and placed whilst 
minimising their stay in hospital. 

2.2.3 Progress: August-November 2020
Currently progress is well advanced against the Discharge to Assess model, 
formally known as the Enhanced Independence Offer (EIO) with full testing of the 
bed based model in Kingham and Ashley Units and expansion of the bed base 
agreed by the CCG, with phasing currently being implemented at Milbrook Lodge 
and Chestnut Court.

The Home first model commenced roll out on 7 September 2020 starting in the 
Forest of Dean with full implementation in October 2020. There have been some 
teething problems with the Home first integrated model but these are being worked 
through and many more patients are able to go home form Hospital with wrap-
around care. Due to a surge in admissions of frail patients over September 2020 
there has been a surge in referrals to the Discharge to assess Assessment beds 
creating a bottle neck whilst the next phase of beds come on line. Work is 
underway to validate referrals with the multi-agency teams to ensure patients are 
moved appropriately and further mitigations are being put in place.

The Transfer of Care Bureau in GHFT, with a multi-agency team meeting twice 
daily and testing the new single referral form, is well underway and has already 
shown great improvements in the allocation of patients to Home first with patients 
moving on the same or next day.  The digital referral form is now being tested on 
two wards at GHFT and this will move to six wards mid-November 2020.  The 
Integrated Discharge Hub is near completion with break out areas for visiting 
teams and safeguarding discussions, full digital wall mounted technology showing 
system capacity and GHFT flow data, plus visualisation of referrals and 
documentation for the Transfer of Care Bureau members (real and virtual).

Adult Social Care (ASC) staff have been given access to GHFT’s Electronic 
Patient Record (EPR) through Sunrise and through this access to Joining Up Your 
Information (JUYI). The firewall issue was resolved there are still some access 
issues to resolve for GCC colleagues. Once complete, Social Workers will be able 
to fully implement the discharge to assess out of hospital model remotely and have 
access to records from outside the Trust to support referrals. 

2.2.4 Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) and Supplies
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHFT) and Gloucestershire 
Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) continue to manage stock delivered 

Page 64



5

under the national delivery arrangements from a storage facility within 
Gloucestershire.

Deliveries to care homes are being managed from the local PPE hub. Stock 
management is in place and stocks remain good at 10-14 days.

Primary Care providers are successfully securing supply chains and registering 
with the national online PPE Portal to access emergency supplies, reducing the 
reliance on the hub as the recovery phase continues.

2.2.5 Transport 
Non-Emergency Patient Transport continues to offer a good level of service to 
Gloucestershire patients and is working well. 

2.2.6 Staff Risk Assessments
The CCG has ensured that all staff who are currently working (not including those 
on maternity leave or long term sick) have completed a Covid Staff Risk 
Assessment with their line manager and that it is reviewed on a regular basis. The 
risk assessment requires that the staff member and manager complete a 
prescribed risk framework based on NHS Employers guidance.  This takes into 
account the staff member’s particular circumstances, Age, long term condition(s), 
Black Asian Minority Ethnic (BAME) background and the risk mitigation actions to 
ensure that if staff wish to work from Sanger House, it is as safe as possible. The 
CCG also has access to specialist Occupational Health advice and support from 
Working Well that provides the service to GHFT, GHC and the CCG.

The CCG’s building, Sanger House is Covid-Secure and national guidance has 
been followed on the layout and number of staff who are able to work on-site at 
any one time.

2.2.7 Patient Engagement & Experience 
Regional Covid-19 experience of health care services
GCCG has participated in, and facilitated a regional survey, which has given us 
helpful insight into people’s experiences of healthcare services during the Covid-19 
pandemic.   

Analysis of the data has identified specific themes affecting patients and focussed 
in particular on groups with protected characteristics/demographic profiles:

 BAME
 Carers
 Learning Disabilities
 LGBTQ
 Under 30’s
 End of Life
 Cancer

Data specific to video and telephone consultations has also been further analysed.

The Qualitative data from this survey has been analysed and placed into the 
following themes;

 Accessible and Timely
 Quality and Equity
 Improved Pathways and Communication

Page 65



6

 Workforce and Resilient Services
 Value for Money/ Funding

The CCG Engagement and Experience Team were also aware of a number of 
other organisations who have been gathering information about Covid-19 
experience from local communities over recent weeks and months – some 
healthcare related, others covering a much wider range of topics. A systematic 
review of cross cutting themes has been undertaken and findings presented to the 
systems Recovery Cell.

2.3 NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) – Updates 
Since 2017 when the NDPP launched in Gloucestershire there have been 5,286 
patient referrals made to the service, with a 55% conversion from referral to 
attending the first programme session. 

At the start of the COVID-19 pandemic nationally, all NDPP face to face sessions 
were stopped and providers quickly adapted to start delivering their programme 
remotely via telephone and Microsoft Teams video conference sessions. 
Nevertheless, referrals to the NDPP service have dropped. In response to the drop 
in referrals, NHS England (NHSE) has temporarily extended the NDPP eligibility 
criteria for a confirmatory HbA1c blood test of within 12 months to 24 months. 

Also recognising the capacity and clinical pressures faced by General Practice, 
NHSE have launched a new patient-led referral route which allows eligible 
participants to sign themselves up to the programme online via the Diabetes UK 
risk tool and without having had an HbA1c in the Non-diabetic hyperglycaemic 
range within the last 24 months. Both of these changes will be available until at 
least the end of March 2021.

The CCG’s NDPP project team have also been working on a number of projects to 
increase referrals to the NDPP service and ultimately increase the number of 
people in Gloucestershire that have the opportunity to reduce their risk of 
developing type 2 diabetes. Some of these projects are:

 Delivering local webinar for professionals to learn about the NDPP service; 
 Working with the Primary Care Clinical Audit team to develop and run 

clinical searches for practices to identify their NDPP eligible population; 
 Working with the CCG’s Health Workplace Consultant and Healthy Lifestyle 

Service to raise awareness of type 2 diabetes within workplaces; 
encouraging employees to use the Diabetes UK risk tool to assess their risk 
and refer themselves to the NDPP if eligible. 

Gloucestershire’s NHS Low-Calorie Diet (LCD) Pilot - Update
Earlier this year, Gloucestershire was selected by NHS England as one of 10 sites 
nationally to pilot the implementation of a digital Low Calorie Diet programme for 
people living with Type 2 diabetes. 

As part of the NHS long term plan NHSE committed to pilot LCD for people with 
Type 2 diabetes following the results submitted by the DiRECT study (short for 
Diabetes Remission Clinical Trial) that reported nearly half of patients stopped 
taking anti-diabetic drugs and achieved non-diabetic body glucose levels following 
a LCD programme.

Page 66



7

The LCD intervention aims to support patients to achieve significant weight loss 
and will include the provision of Total Diet Replacement products for 12 weeks. 
This will be part of a 12 month behaviour change support package to enable rapid 
initial weight loss followed by reintroduction of real food with the overall aim of 
sustained weight loss and improved nutrition. The support package will be 
delivered through a nationally accredited digital service provider and is planned to 
launch in autumn 2020

The new programme will initially be offered to up to 500 people in Gloucestershire 
between September 2020 and March 2022.

2.4 Focus on inequalities in health and employment

2.4.1 Health Inequalities– Gloucester City Plan
Jointly sponsored by the Gloucester City Integrated Locality Partnership (ILP) and 
Safer, Stronger Gloucester Partnership, the Gloucester City health inequalities task 
and finish aims to develop a plan for tackling health inequalities in the city.  

Although Gloucestershire is a relatively affluent and healthy county, there are 
pockets of inequality in health access and outcomes, most notably in Gloucester 
City.  We also now know that the impact of coronavirus falls disproportionately on 
groups already disadvantaged. The recent PHE report, Beyond the data: 
Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups identifies the NHS as 
one of several ‘anchor institutions’ who need to scale up prevention services and 
develop strategies to rebuild trust and participation, co-producing solutions with 
communities themselves.  This year’s Gloucestershire Director of Public Health 
Report focusses specifically on health inequalities in BAME communities and how 
statutory partners in the system could mobilise to reduce them. You can read the 
full report here:  https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-
council-news/news-october-2020/public-health-report-calls-for-action-on-health-
inequalities-faced-by-bame-residents/ 

The Task and Finish seeks to work at the three levels of the Population 
Intervention Triangle illustrated below.  Our health approach to inequalities typically 
focusses on the ‘service based interventions’ section, seeking to ensure services 
are accessible and that outcomes are consistent across the protected 
characteristics and disadvantaged populations:
 
Here is how the Gloucester City Task & Finish will approach the inequalities 
challenge:

Page 67

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-october-2020/public-health-report-calls-for-action-on-health-inequalities-faced-by-bame-residents/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-october-2020/public-health-report-calls-for-action-on-health-inequalities-faced-by-bame-residents/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-october-2020/public-health-report-calls-for-action-on-health-inequalities-faced-by-bame-residents/


8

Service-based interventions: the ILP has already identified inequalities in 
general, and respiratory and mental health specifically as priorities for focus.  The 
Task & Finish will work with public health to test culturally-competent diagnostic 
tools to enable existing services and new initiatives to understand where 
inequalities exist and action is required.  It will also seek to develop our 
understanding of the service provision landscape: where are inequalities most 
evident in our provision, what level of investment is going in, and to what range of 
services?

Strengthen community action: a key strength in Gloucestershire is the 
widespread adoption of the ‘asset-based community development’ (ABCD) 
approach.  The Task & Finish will continue existing work to ensure health is 
present and active in the conversations about what matters to people living in 
different areas of the city.  There are some great opportunities here to co-produce 
solutions to address health inequalities, but there are also two key challenges we 
will focus on:

 How to ensure the conversation and priority-setting on health inequalities is 
diverse and representative.  This means building ever stronger relationships 
with the communities we serve so that we are naturally connected in the 
way we work, and that we act and react based on what we are learning, not 
what we assume people want or need. 

 Health most commonly approaches community groups with an agenda of 
our own already in mind – a service to improve or promote, or a problem to 
‘fix’.  We will actively consider how this has an impact on our relationship 
with the community, and what we could do to work with people in a more 
strength-based way to effect real and enduring changes.  

Civic-level intervention: we know that, as an anchor institution, health has an 
influence in the county that extends well beyond the reach of the services we 
provide.  By building a greater understanding of health inequalities in our own 
services and of the strengths within the communities themselves, we will increase 
our effectiveness as an ally and advocate for addressing the wider determinants of 

Page 68



9

health that are beyond our immediate scope of control – e.g. education, housing, 
built environment.

The Task & Finish Approach
In line with the Intervention Triangle, particularly the need to ensure representation 
in the priority and direction setting, the initial focus is on gathering together the 
following:

 Information – what do we know, and how much more can we discover about 
health inequalities in our existing datasets and our spending profile?

 Stakeholders – both community and service-based.  Who knows what the 
issues are, who ‘owns’ them, who has the power and influence to address 
them?

 Provision – this is not a comprehensive service map but is being built as a 
by-product of the process to share with stakeholders and support asset-
based approaches.

There is a working group which includes the people you might describe as ‘owning’ 
the issue – senior ICS system leaders, commissioners and service providers. This 
is not a Steering Group as it represents provision not utilisation, and further work is 
required to consider how best to ensure the community voice is present in the 
conversation. The Safer, Stronger Gloucester Partnership and the Gloucester City 
ILP will both be involved in setting out the plan, trialling tools and interventions, and 
sharing learning across the county. 

Service-based interventions: the ILP has already identified inequalities in general, 
and respiratory and mental health specifically as priorities for focus, and targeted 
initiatives are in place or being implemented in those areas as well as in early 
cancer detection. The Task & Finish will also work with public health in these work 
streams to test culturally-competent diagnostic tools to enable existing services 
and new initiatives to understand where inequalities exist and action is required. It 
will also seek to develop our understanding of the service provision landscape: 
where are inequalities most evident in our provision, what level of investment is 
going in, and to what range of services?

2.4.2 Workforce inequalities
The Integrated Care System (ICS) partners have prioritised work on health and 
workforce inequalities. This has resulted in Human Resources and Organisational 
Development colleagues from Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Trust (GHFT) and 
Gloucester Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) along with the Council 
and the CCG deciding that one of its key workforce priorities for this year is 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. Partners have worked together to agree a 
number of collaborative projects including reciprocal mentoring, ED&I networks 
and a prospective Equality & Diversity conference, as well as participating in 
GHFT’s Stepping Up programme, specifically designed for staff in pay bands 4-6 
from a BAME background.

Additionally the CCG has commissioned an ED&I specialist within the 
Commissioning Support Unit (our current HR service) to work with the CCG. David 
Harris, ED&I specialist is currently undertaking a comprehensive audit of the 
CCG’s workforce strategies, policies, procedures and schemes and evaluate them 
according to ED&I best practice. This is with a view to making tangible 
recommendations, and resulting changes to our current policies and procedures on 
recruiting a more diverse and inclusive workforce, retaining those staff members; 

Page 69



10

as well as ensuring staff from a diversity of backgrounds have access to 
opportunities for career advancement and promotion.

A broader piece of work is currently being developed focusing on the CCG’s 
culture and practices with a view to understanding if the CCG is ‘fit ready to 
embrace diversity’. This will allow us to co-create plans with our staff that tackle the 
barriers faced by staff with protected characteristics to gain employment and 
promotion within the CCG. As well as improve their experiences of working in the 
CCG and how they are supported in their job.  It is hoped that this work will give 
the CCG insight into the work culture experienced by staff with protected 
characteristics and provide practical solutions to making improvements to staff 
working lives. 

2.5 Graduates bring new skills to the CCG
A new graduate training scheme run by NHS Gloucestershire CCG is set to nurture 
new talent and bring benefits to local health and care services.

The Graduate Management Training Scheme (GMTS) is the first of its kind to be 
run by the CCG.  The new scheme, which went live in late 2019, received around 
130 applications from graduates in search of coveted career development 
opportunities within the NHS.

It was essential for the CCG to look at new ways of recruiting because of the 
limitations brought by the Covid-19 pandemic. Senior CCG colleagues collaborated 
with neighbouring organisation the South Central and West Commissioning 
Support Unit (SCW CSU) who designed and delivered the GMTS assessment 
process. This involved a fully virtual assessment centre for the scheme as the 
application process took place at the height of the first wave of the pandemic.

The rigorous process included exercises for the 11 candidates, a written 
communication task, a data review assignment and a panel presentation.

The GMTS lasts for two years, after which the five candidates will secure a 
permanent role within the CCG.  For the duration of the scheme the graduates 
benefit from a range of opportunities including mentoring, and learning project 
management skills.

2.6 Public Consultations Update
Two public consultations launched on 22 October 2020. 

 Fit for the Future: Developing specialist hospital services in Gloucestershire
 A new hospital for the Forest of Dean

Both consultations follow long periods of engagement with thousands of local 
people. The local NHS is consulting local patients, carers, the public and our 
community and voluntary partners as well as NHS and care staff. Our main focus 
is on Gloucestershire residents, but we also invite feedback from people in 
neighbouring areas who use services in Gloucestershire.

Promotion of the consultations is well underway across the county and feedback is 
starting to come in. Online consultations activities have taken place, with many 
more planned. The Information Bus has been able to make three visits to: 
Cheltenham, Cinderford and Gloucester to talk to people face to face (with clear 
masks and socially distanced) before the nationwide Covid-19 lockdown 

Page 70



11

restrictions came into force on 5 November 2020, attracting more than 100 visitors. 
The participation team regularly reviews the progress of the consultations and 
modifies activities to accommodate relevant current circumstances. As previously 
mentioned at October 2020 HOSC meeting, a midpoint review is planned, the 
outcome of which will be shared with HOSC. The mid-point review will consider the 
learning from the first half or our consultation period, and consider whether any 
amendments to our consultation approach need to be made. This review will 
include consideration of whether an extension of time available for people to 
respond (in light of the additional restrictions presented by the most recent lock 
down period) would be appropriate.

There is also a programme of staff consultation activities ranging from team 
meetings to information stands and virtual online forums to regular communication 
updates.

There are lots of ways people can find out about the consultations and tell us what 
they think, including:

 Consultation materials distributed to local outlets e.g. consultation booklet
 Easy Read booklet
 Surveys
 Online presentations and Q&As with hospital clinicians
 Social and print media articles
 Awareness flyer to local households later this month which includes 

information about how to book a tele-consultation to share your views and 
how to express and interest in becoming a member of the Citizens’ Jury.

We would like to thank Healthwatch Gloucestershire and Inclusion Gloucestershire 
for their help in supporting the development of consultation materials.

Further detailed information about Fit for the Future available at 
www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay and at www.fodhealth.nhs.uk for the Forest 
of Dean Community Hospital consultation. 

Both consultations feature on the new online participation platform at:  
https://getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk, which has a range of tools, information and
communication resources e.g. service guides and video content, discussion 
forums.

3. Department of Health and Social Care and NHS 
England Consultations

3.1 Information regarding Department of Health and Social Care consultations is 
available via the GOV.UK website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations

3.2 Information regarding NHS England consultations is available via the NHS 
England website: https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/

The Department of Health and NHS England websites also include responses 
to closed consultations.

Page 71

http://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay
http://www.fodhealth.nhs.uk/
https://getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/


12

3.3 Department of Health and Social Care 
Access to all government departments and many other agencies and public 
bodies have been merged into GOV.UK 
Here you can see all news and communications, statistics and consultations. 
Find out how government services are performing and how satisfied users are 
https://www.gov.uk/

4. Section B: Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (GCCG) primary medical care commissioning 
update 

These items are for information and noting.

4.1 Primary Care Business Continuity
Across the county, all practices are offering face to face appointments where 
appropriate whilst continuing to use remote triage and consultation tools. The 
increasing demand for primary care seen throughout the summer months 
continues into autumn. 

Practices are providing full services in line with the NHS England/Improvement 
General Practice standard operating procedure. However, as demand reaches pre 
Covid-19 levels feedback suggests that this is especially challenging given the 
competing priorities such as the flu campaign, catch up programmes and 
managing patients in a Covid-19 environment. The CCG continues to support 
practices and Primary Care Networks as the response changes over time. 

The CCG is working with GP practices to expand the range of services to which 
patients can self-refer. A number of existing self-referral pathways have reopened 
(e.g. podiatry) and the CCG is reviewing which pathways are best suited for self-
referral so that they can be developed. In addition new pathways come on line. 
Recently a new prostate pathway which includes diagnostics has commenced. 

The CCG Primary Care and Localities Directorate continue to remain in regular two 
way communication with Practices, GPs and Primary Care Network (PCN) Clinical 
Directors to understand and alleviate any issues and concerns. The CCG briefing 
for General Practice continues twice weekly with a weekly SITREP requested form 
all 73 practices.

The CCG has received excellent feedback from PCN Business Managers to the 
new monthly meeting, which provide a platform and opportunity for PCN Business 
Managers to hear national and local updates from the CCG, explore opportunities 
for Business Manager development from the Gloucestershire Primary Care 
Training Hub, and discuss issues and concerns together to support each other.

4.2 Integrated Locality Partnerships & Population Health Management

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/


13

Integrated Locality Partnerships (ILP) have been reinstated across the county 
during September and October, initially via MS Teams. Each geography is 
focussing on experiences and learning during Covid and priorities going forwards.

The first of these to meet, Cheltenham ILP, will now focus on the impact of Covid 
19 on the existing cohorts of patients selected as part of the Population Health 
Management Programme and retain their priority on developing support of care 
homes across Cheltenham.

A focus for ILPs will be assessing the impact of Covid on their populations and 
working with partners to support the reduction in health inequalities particularly in 
Gloucester City. The Stronger Safer Gloucester Partnership (SSGP) is the 
strategic group of various agencies responsible for the wider wellbeing, health and 
community safety agenda in the City of Gloucester. 

Together with the Gloucester City ILP, SSGP have co-sponsored a task and finish 
group with the aim to gather together information and data on what we know, and 
what is currently being done, about health inequalities in the city of Gloucester. 
This will help the system and communities to identify further targeted interventions 
such as service design and development, better connectivity of existing support, or 
new initiatives, all with the aim of reducing the health inequalities gap in the city. 

Prior to COVID, through the Population Health Management Optum programme, 
the Integrated Care System (ICS) Business Intelligence team was providing 
Integrated Locality Reports to Cheltenham locality teams. This was allowing our 
Primary Care teams and partners to trial interventions with cohorts at risk of 
negative health outcomes. With Regional Digital First Funding, and using a 
Population Health Management approach this work will be extended to the 
Gloucester City area, where there are high levels of deprivation and groups at risk 
of COVID-19 infection. 

4.3 Care Homes support
The Enhanced Health in Care Homes service in the Network Contract DES 
commenced on 1 October 2020. However, a significant amount of work has been 
conducted prior to this date by the CCG, PCNs and Providers.

The Enhanced Health in Care Homes working group, with CCG, GHC, GCC and 
PCN colleagues, have been working through the requirements. GHC are working 
well with PCNs to develop new ways of working to support Care Homes to ensure 
there is aligned service delivery and avoid duplication.

All CQC registered homes (as defined by CQC) were required by NHSE/I to be 
aligned to a single PCN by the 31 July. The CCG met the deadline so all CQC 
Care Homes are aligned to a single PCN across the county. 

The CCG was in regular communication with Primary Care and Care Homes to 
help support the implementation of these service changes in preparation for the 

Page 73



14

October 2020 start date; this included developing template letters for GPs to 
support re-registering of patients, and an Easy Read leaflet for Care Home 
residents prepared with the support of Inclusion Gloucestershire.

The CCG has been engaging with key leaders of Care Homes across 
Gloucestershire, through the Gloucestershire Care Providers Association, to make 
them aware of these service changes. The CCG anticipates that these changes 
will support the continued good relationship between general practice and care 
homes. 

The local Care Home enhanced service (CHES) is being reviewed to complement 
the requirements outlined in the DES. It will continue the good practice established 
in Gloucestershire care homes under the previous CHES that goes beyond the 
DES requirements, while also remunerating practices for implementing “best 
practice” where appropriate as defined within the Enhanced Health in Care Homes 
Framework. 

4.4 Digital implementation in Primary Care
The CCG enabled remote home working for GPs and other practice staff by 
providing over 800 laptops and circa 300 Away from my Desk dongles during the 
initial Phase of Covid-19. In addition there will be further investment in digital 
primary care. Consideration is currently being given to PCN cyber security, digital 
communications and diagnostics, remote monitoring equipment and PCN support 
and further IT equipment. Thus continuing the theme of enabling staff to work more 
flexibly, as well as allowing clinical staff who are potentially vulnerable themselves 
to continue to work.

4.5 Workforce support and development 
The CCG in partnership with practices in the Inner City PCN have recruited two 
Health Equalities GP Fellows. Continuing on the success of this award winning 
project, this partnership project which has input from practices, the CCG, Public 
Health at Gloucestershire County Council and Health Education England, has now 
supported the recruitment of five GPs into the Inner City PCN for Bartongate, 
Partners in Health – Pavillion branch, Gloucester City Health Centre and 
Gloucester Health Access Centre.

Gloucestershire Primary Care Training Hub and Health Education England School 
of Primary Care in the South West together with the CCG have successfully 
recruited a Differential Attainment Fellow, part time for an 18 month period. This is 
a highly important role to support individual GPs in training as 33% of trainee GPs 
come from a BAME background or are International Medical Graduates. Providing 
support early on in their careers is vital for their success and the retention of GP 
colleagues in Gloucestershire for the longer term. This project is a trailblazer and 
not underway with such focus in other national areas.

The Spark GP, Gloucestershire’s New To Practice Scheme for GPs 

Page 74



15

led by Dr Laura Halden and the Primary Care Training Hub Workforce team, 
started in mid-September, with 30 early career GPs coming together virtually to 
receive, mentoring, training and development, including an offer of 4-6 sessions of 
coaching to assist them with support into their roles as developing GPs in county. 
The New to Practice scheme is funded via NHSE/I to integrate new GPs and 
Nurses into General Practice environments. The practice nurse Spark programme 
is due to start in late Autumn. 

The Gloucestershire Primary Care Training Hub and CCG colleagues have worked 
closely with all 15 PCN leads in Gloucestershire to discuss and successfully submit 
workforce plans for 2020-21 as required for a submission to NHSE/I for the 
Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS). The approach taken with PCNs 
has been through ‘workforce conversations’ which has provided good insight for 
PCNs on their workforce profiles for consideration when submitting the workforce 
plans. This approach has been recognised as best practice regionally and shared 
across the South West region to other CCGs and Training Hubs for awareness. 
This approach continued for a further submission of workforce plans for 2021-24 
required from all PCNs in county on 31October 2020.

4.6 Primary Care Estates and Facilities
The new £5.4m Cinderford Primary Medical Centre is now open and welcoming 
local patients. The new facility area replaces the town’s existing health centre, 
which housed both The Dockham Surgery and Forest Health Care.

The new centre has been built to modern, environmentally-friendly, state-of-the art 
specifications, and includes 20 multi-purpose consulting rooms, nurse treatment 
areas and first-rate facilities for reception and administration staff, making it a great 
environment for both patients and staff. In addition to this, the practice and 
developer worked alongside dementia experts to develop a number of special 
features to make it welcoming for people living with dementia and those with 
disabilities whilst offering enhanced infection control standards for both patients 
and staff.

The construction of the new GP Practice Premises at Quayside House in 
Gloucester continues and remains on track for opening next Spring/ early Summer 
2021. This will house Gloucester City Health Centre and Gloucester Health Access 
Centre.

Two substantial surgery extensions are nearing completion after works were 
temporarily halted due to the COVID pandemic at The Chipping Surgery in Wotton-
under-Edge and The Alney Practice’s surgery in Highnam.

In August the CCG’s Primary Care Commissioning Committee approved a GP led 
proposal for the development of a new £5.15m primary care centre in Coleford, 
bringing two existing practices into one modern purpose built facility. Subject to 
local authority planning approval, building work is expected to start during the 
summer of 2021 with the new facility open during the summer of 2022.

Page 75



16

5. Section C: Local Providers’ updates 
This Section includes updates from Gloucestershire Health and Care Services 
NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHT), 

These items are for information and noting.

5.1 Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 
(GHC)

5.1.1 Endoscopy Units Renew Accreditation
Stroud and Cirencester Community Hospitals have been recognised for meeting 
best practice quality standards for endoscopy with renewal of their national 
accreditation.
They are among a handful of community hospitals in the country to be accredited 
by the Joint Advisory Group on Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (JAG), which assessed 
the endoscopy units earlier this year.

Amjad Uppal, Medical Director, said: “This is deserved recognition for the 
continued great work of the teams at Stroud and Cirencester, who have maintained 
accreditation since 2016.”
JAG was established in 1994 to set standards for endoscopists and provide quality 
assurance for hospital units. It uses a series of ratings to assess how well a 
hospital is providing a high quality, patient-centred service.

Severine Ryder, Theatre, Endoscopy and Day Surgery Manager at Stroud 
Hospital, said: “JAG accreditation is an important platform for our work - for 
example, it is a requirement for participation in the bowel cancer screening 
programme. As a team we are proud of the service we’re able to deliver for 
patients, and pleased that our expertise and high standards are reflected in our 
accreditation.”

5.1.2 Trust Nurse Awarded MBE
A nurse from Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust has been 
awarded the MBE. Sonia Pearcey, who lives in Gloucester, is the Trust’s Freedom 
to Speak Up Guardian and her inclusion on the Queen’s Birthday Honours List 
2020 is in part due to her work in supporting Trust staff to speak up about anything 
that gets in the way of providing good care. Sonia, who has been a nurse for 32 
years, said: “I am proud to be a nurse and feel privileged to be a Freedom to 
Speak Up Guardian. This award is testament to the support of my family and 
colleagues throughout healthcare. I would especially like to thank all the Freedom 
to Speak Up Guardians who strive to protect patient safety and support staff to 
speak up.”

Page 76



17

Trust Chief Executive Paul Roberts said: “On behalf of the whole Trust I would like 
to wholeheartedly congratulate Sonia on her MBE. Sonia has made and continues 
to make a huge contribution to supporting our staff, our patients and partners in 
creating an open culture, where we can discuss and solve concerns. This is vitally 
important if we are to continue improving the quality of the services we provide.”

Sonia started her student nurse training in 1988 at The Ulster Hospital, Dundonald, 
Belfast. She joined Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust in 
2008 when it was known as Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust. Her career 
has involved roles in Vascular Surgery, Practice Nursing, Sexual Health and 
leading on Listening into Action. As a Freedom to Speak Up Guardian (and Chair 
of the South West region of Freedom to Speak Up Guardians) Sonia is available to 
anyone in the Trust who wants to speak up about issues such as safety, unfair 
treatment, poor practice or to improve services. Freedom to Speak Up Guardians 
were appointed by all NHS Trusts in 2015, following recommendations made by Sir 
Robert Francis QC, who chaired the public inquiry into the Mid Staffordshire 
hospital scandal.

5.1.3 Dementia Information Films for BAME Communities
Short films about dementia, made with people from black, asian and minority 
ethnic (BAME) backgrounds in mind, are now available for the public to view 
online.

The films, funded by GHC and the county council's Dementia Education and 
Training Strategy, were launched online at the beginning of October.

Four films have been made - in English, Gujarati, Polish and Cantonese - and each 
provides information about the signs and symptoms of dementia and addresses 
the stigma and misunderstanding about the condition. Each film also directs people 
to local help and support services. The films are the result of ongoing work by the 
Gloucestershire BME Network for Dementia; a group that brings together a number 
of organisations across Gloucestershire with the purpose of improving dementia 
diagnosis and care for people from Black and minority ethnic communities. The 
Gloucestershire Alzheimer’s Society, family carers, health and social care staff and 
a number of local groups were involved in the making of the films.

There are an estimated 25,000 people from BAME communities living with 
dementia in the UK and this figure is expected to grow to 50,000 by 2025. (All 
Party – Parliamentary Group on Dementia, July 2013). The number of people from 
BAME communities growing older in Gloucestershire is increasing (Census 2011) 
and it is hoped that the films will enable people to have a better understanding of 
the signs and symptoms of dementia and how to get help and support.

5.1.4 Children’s Vaccination Update
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust is providing children’s flu 
vaccination drive-through appointments and community clinics across the county 

Page 77



18

for all primary school children (Reception to Year 6) and all Year 7 children in 
secondary school. In 2020/21, the children’s flu vaccination is being offered to:

o children aged 2 or 3 years on 31 August 2020 – born between 1 September 
2016 and 31 August 2018

o all primary school children (reception to year 6)
o all year 7 in secondary school
o children aged 2 to 17 years with long-term health conditions

Because of Covid-19, we have had to make some changes to the way we deliver 
our school-aged flu vaccinations. This includes wearing PPE but also carrying out 
clinics in community venues, such as fire stations and community centres, as well 
as ‘drive through’ appointments in parts of the county. 
In a similar way, ‘catch up’ clinics have been held via drive through and community 
clinics for children who may have missed their vaccinations usually delivered in 
schools, but whose schools were closed during the lockdown earlier this year. 

5.2 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT) 

5.2.1 Virtual COVID ward 
An important service development which was established at the hospitals in 
response to the learning from the initial phase of the pandemic is the provision of a 
COVID virtual ward. This service is a response to the cohort of patients who were 
managed at home, under the care of their GP, whose outcomes could be improved 
by earlier detection of any deterioration in their condition and particularly those who 
present with “silent” symptoms at the onset of their deterioration. 

The service enables up to 500 patients, at any time, to have their oxygen levels 
monitored whilst remaining at home and thus, in the absence of their deterioration 
manifesting through worsening visible symptoms, can be identified and admitted to 
hospital sooner than might otherwise be the case. This will not only improve overall 
outcomes but is expected to reduce the number of patients who require admission 
to critical care services. 

5.2.2 COVID research studies 
The Hospitals Trust remains very active with respect to research studies in the 
area of COVID-19. In the newly established urgent COVID related public health 
studies (which comprises 61% of all research activity in the Local Clinical 
Research Network this year) Gloucestershire Hospitals is the highest recruiting 
centre in the Network accounting for 59% of all recruits. Recruitment of colleagues 
into the Siren study, aimed at developing our understanding of the immunity 
associated with previous COVID-19 infection continues to go well with around 300 
staff now participating. Finally, and very importantly, research in non-COVID areas 
is also now picking back up, with trials recently opened in the areas of 
ophthalmology, cancer, cardiovascular, trauma and orthopaedic, stroke and 
paediatrics. 

5.2.3 Staff recognised 
Two of the Trust’s staff have been recognised for their outstanding contribution to 
patient care at a national awards event. The national patient experience awards 
recognise those who’ve done exceptional things and made a difference to patients 

Page 78



19

in health and social care.  Jean Tucker was awarded national PALS Manager Of 
The Year and nurse Shona Duffy also received an award for her work on 
developing guidelines for the care of our patients who are homeless.

5.2.4 Annual Members’ Meeting success 
For the first time the Trust’s Annual Members’ Meeting was a virtual affair this year 
with the event being broadcast live via our YouTube channel. 

A range of people clinical staff, lead governor, patient and our management team 
broadcast from the education Centre on the Gloucestershire Royal site. The 
agenda included highlights of the year, the financial position of the trust and 
operational performance. A key focus this year was the spotlight on Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) at the hospitals.  The event can be accessed via the @GlosHospitals 
YouTube channel. 

5.2.5 Electronic Patient Record (EPR) 
The next phase of our Electronic Patient Record (EPR) deployment has been 
successful. The electronic ordering and receipting system for blood tests 
(pathology) and images (radiology) have been successfully rolled out by the Digital 
Care Team in close partnership with clinical leaders. Roll out has happened across 
all of our adult inpatient wards, emergency departments and outpatients. This is a 
huge fete at any time but the additional complications of a team working remotely 
for much of the preparation phase, makes this an even more noteworthy. 

EPR digitalising care 

GRH: In December 2019, all our adult inpatient wards (x24) successfully converted 
to a digital system (nursing documentation) to record patient information. 

CGH: In February 2020, all adult inpatient wards (x18) successfully converted to 
EPR (nursing documentation).   

This is part of the Trust’s long-term commitment to using better, faster, safer 
technology to help deliver ‘Best care for Everyone’ in line with GHNHSFT’s vision. 
The EPR will support better clinical decision-making, enhance patient care and 
improve patient experience. 

Known as Sunrise EPR, the system is already being successfully used by 
some of the most digitally advanced NHS hospitals in England. Clinicians 
have been directly involved in the development of Sunrise EPR. It’s the first 
time GHNHSFT has used a clinical digital system for inpatients, previously 
relying entirely on paper files to record admissions, care information and 
observations. 

In addition to the benefits outlined above, the implementation of the new 
system has freed up nurses to spend more time with patients. Historically 
nurses would have updated patient records in nursing stations using paper. 
Now they spend more time in bays working with patients collaboratively to 
complete the administration electronically. 

The EPR programme runs parallel with significant improvements in the community 
where the patient record has also been digitalised under a programme called 
Joining Up Your Information (JUYI). The ultimate vision is to combine these 

Page 79



20

systems so that the patient’s record is seamless and joined up across all NHS and 
care services.  

6. Recommendations
This report is provided for information and HCOSC Members are invited to note 
the contents.

Dr Andrew Seymour Mary Hutton 
Clinical Chair Accountable Officer
NHS Gloucestershire CCG NHS Gloucestershire CCG

9 November 2020

Page 80


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Community Phlebotomy Services
	6 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Performance Report
	8 One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) Lead Report
	9 GCCG Clinical Chair/Accountable Officer Report

